Exploring Esports Fandom on Social Media: A Qualitative Research on Social Media Use and LoL World Championship Spectatorship



Student Name: Weijie Huang

Student Number: 595461

Supervisor: Dr. Leandro Borges Lima

Media & Creative Industries

Erasmus School of History, Culture and Communication

Erasmus University Rotterdam

Master's Thesis

June, 2023

Word count: 19086

Exploring Esports Fandom on Social Media: A Qualitative Research on Social Media Use and LoL World Championship Spectatorship

ABSTRACT

With the emergence of esports, an increasing number of millennials and gen-Z are captivated by this burgeoning form of media content. Among the various esports tournaments, the *League of Legends* World Championship has gained unparalleled spectatorship since 2011, surpassing its counterparts in terms of viewership and securing its top-rank position globally until now. Furthermore, the peak viewership continuously soars steadily in the last two years. To understand the reasons behind its widespread popularity, this study investigates the social media usage of *League of Legends* esports spectators, and explores the following research question: *How do the LoL World Championship spectators construct their digital fandom identity through social media usage?*

The study adopts a qualitative approach, employing the uses and gratifications theory as a theoretical framework to study the motivations underlying the spectatorship of the *League of Legends* World Championship and the utilisation of social media platforms. Additionally, this research utilises the digital fandom theory to analyse the digital fan identity within the esports context. In order to achieve this, semi-structured in-depth interviews were conducted to collect rich and nuanced data. The sample comprised 12 participants between the age of 20 and 27, representing diverse nationalities, including China, Finland, Netherlands, Poland, and South Africa. Participants were asked about their motivations and personal experiences with media consumption for *League of Legends* esports on various digital platforms. Existing research guided the development of the topic list, analysis and interpretation of the findings.

The findings suggest that the spectators were active *League of Legends* gamers. Furthermore, the results confirm that all those media platforms have interwoven with fans' *socialisation opportunities* to watch the *LoL* tournament and relate to their social media use for esports and game content. Moreover, *knowledge acquisition* emerges as the primary motivation driving spectators' engagement with esports consumption and utilisation of digital media platforms. Additionally, the study reveals that although esports audiences share the same internal needs for media use, the different social-cultural backgrounds of interviewees from China and the West have resulted in different preferences for the functions of the media platforms.

The findings of this study contribute to the current literature on digital fandom within the realm of esports. Specifically, this study confirms the significance of digital media interfaces for esports spectators, and suggests that future studies on the consuming motivation of esports spectatorship should take into account users' overall digital media use as a whole and social-cultural influence.

<u>KEYWORDS</u>: the *LoL* World Championship, spectatorship, esports, social media use, streaming platforms

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Leandro Borges Lima, for his sincere interest, invaluable guidance and unwavering support in developing my idea into a master thesis since the very first meeting on October 26, 2022. The advice he provided has been valuable and significant for me to start and write this thesis.

I would also like to thank Erasmus Esports and all the remarkable individuals I had the privilege to interview. Their passion for games has inspired me and supported me during the thesis process. The moment I discovered that Erasmus Esports was starting with the *League of Legends* student tournament, I knew I was in the right place for my research!

Many thanks to all my family members and friends in China and Netherlands. Getting so much love, support and motivation during the process was really helpful for me to write this thesis.

Finally, my special thanks to the girls from Media & Creative Industries programme teamed up to study in the library until the last day. Thanks for the yearly companionship and encouragement in the process of writing the thesis! It has been truly helpful and an energy boost during the final month!

Table of Contents

A	bstract and keywords	2
A	cknowledgements	3
1.	. Introduction	6
	1.1 Relevance	7
	1.2 Overview of the thesis structure	8
2.	. Literature Review	9
	2.1 Uses and gratifications paradigm	9
	2.1.1 Uses and gratifications theory in game studies	
	2.2 Video game, esports and esports spectatorship	
	2.2.1 Video game culture in media studies	
	2.2.2 Esports on rising	
	a) Digital technology: The distinct features of esports spectatorship	
	2.3 Fan identity and fandom	
	2.3.1 Media fan identity	
	2.3.2 Game fans: we play, and we do more	
	2.3.3 Sports fan identity	19
	2.4 Debate: Are esports audiences equal to sports audiences?	20
3.	. Methodology	23
	3.1 Justification of the method	23
	3.2 Sampling	24
	3.3 Data collection	26
	3.4 Operationalisation	27
	3.5 Data analysis	28
	3.6 Validity and reliability	29
	3.7 Ethics	30
4.	. Results	31
	4.1 Appealing esports tournament to watch: the uniqueness of the LoL World Championship	p32
	$4.1.1\ Complex\ and\ attractive\ game\ to\ play:\ Emotional\ attachment\ for\ spectating\ LoL\ tournament\$	
	4.1.2 Specialisation in esports organisation: Riot company did a good job!	
	4.2 Media platforms integration for socialisation opportunities: Streaming platforms, social media, forums, and mobile social networks	
	4.2.1 Streaming platform preference for socialisation opportunities	
	4.2.2 Digital media use for the immersive experience of spectating of LoL World Championship	
	4.2.3 Mobile social networks: Social interaction for spectators	45
	4.3 Knowledge acquisition through the LoL World Championship: An extensive live	
	broadcasting global tutorial on the LoL gameplay	
	4.3.1 Self-learning through watching the LoL World Championship	
	4.3.2 Knowledge acquisition and information sharing through engaging on social media	50

5. Conclusion	52
5.1 Main findings	52
5.2 Implications of the study	54
5.3 Limitations and future suggestions	54
References	57
Appendix 1. Respondents and Characteristics	69
Appendix 2. Interview Guide	70
Appendix 3. Game League of Legends Trivia	72
Appendix 4. Coding Themes	75
Appendix 5. Consent Form	80

1. Introduction

League of Legends (LoL) is a multiplayer online battle arena (MOBA) video game developed and published by the American video game company Riot Games in 2009. This game is the most-played PC game worldwide (Riot Games, 2023a). The company founded its esports tournament — the first LoL World Championship in 2011, and the first Grand Final for LoL was watched by 1.69 million spectators online (John Funk Legacy, 2011). This tournament became the most popular esports tournament by viewership globally, and the peak online viewing reached 5 million in 2022 (Esport Charts, 2022). Noah Smith, a journalist from The Washington Post, wrote in a report about the LoL World Championship: "There is no faster-growing sport than esports, and there is no bigger esports tournament than the League of Legends World Championship" (2019). With the official recognition as a professional sport in countries such as South Korea (Mozur, 2014), China (Upton, 2019), and the US (Tassi, 2013), the players of the LoL World Championship are becoming professionals. Every year, more than 100 teams worldwide compete for the final winner of the game. Moreover, the competition could access by more than 30 television stations and digital platforms globally (Riot Games, 2023a).

The *LoL* video game and the *LoL* World Championship have recently attracted academic studies. Among many studies, the players drew the key attention of the researchers. According to Brühlmann et al. (2020), there are three primary motivations for players to play the *LoL*: individual achievement, social interaction and immersion. More achievement-oriented players tend to play more competitively and frequently. On the contrary, gamers seeking socialisation are likelier to play for fun. The research by Li et al. (2020) found that top *LoL* players had better executive control and performance than non-expert players. Mateo-Orcajada et al. (2022) analyse the psychological state of professional players, and discover that a high level of confidence and positive motivation can result in better performance in competitions. Kim et al. (2017) measure the factors that affect team performance and indicate that collective intelligence could lead to team success.

However, As the most successful esports tournament with the highest online viewership worldwide, the audiences of the *LoL* World Championship still lack academic studies. Esports spectators have gained attention in recent years due to the popularity of esports among millennials and gen-Z (Tristão, 2022). As a new widespread phenomenon worldwide, the researchers are mainly focusing on the motivations of general esports spectators related to esports fandom (Choi, 2019; Hamari & Sjöblom, 2017; Pu et al., 2022; Qian et al., 2019, 2020), and the relationship of fans with esports consumption (Anderson et

al., 2021; Tang et al., 2022). Anderson et al. indicate that the number of esports fans is more associated with specific tournaments (2021). Therefore, this study wants to explore the spectatorship of the *LoL* World Championship. According to Newzoo (2022), 50% of esports audiences are under the age of 35, and their daily media consumption has ensured their enthusiasm for esports on social media to connect with tournament organisations, professional players, non-professional players, and other fans. Jennings suggested that 100% of esports spectators use social media (2017). Platforms such as Facebook, Instagram, YouTube, Twitter, Reddit and Twitch have become significant fanbases for gamers and esports spectators to engage with (Game Marketing Genie, 2022). As a result, this study wants to explore the spectatorship of the *LoL* World Championship and social media use on fandom identity.

1.1 Relevance

The finding of this research reveals the *LoL* World Championship fandom identity construction on digital media. The result of this study adds value to the existing literature on the audiences of esports. Since the audiences of the *LoL* World Championship are still a new topic, relatively few academic studies have focused on esports spectators' social media use yet, and the existing studies about esports fandom mainly adopting sports audiences' motivations focus on general spectatorship (Hamari & Sjöblom, 2017; Choi, 2019; Qian et al., 2020; Pu et al., 2022). Additionally, studies on esports spectatorship have generally applied a quantitative approach. However, studies adopting the qualitative method on esports spectators indicate that esports viewers possess digital characteristics on viewership. Therefore, conducting a qualitative study on the fandom of the *LoL* World Championship on social media allows for more exploration on their media consumptions, and the results may expect different outcomes due to technological development.

In addition to filling up the academic gap, this study is also applicable to society. The *LoL* World Championship has the highest viewership compared to other esports tournaments (Esports Charts, 2022). This study reveals the success of this esports tournament. It indicates how and why *LoL* fans use social media, which will help other game publishers, tournament organisations and game marketing specialists to understand how to engage better with their potential consumers on social media. Traditional sports researchers and organisations would also like to know how to engage with the younger generation for sports-related interests on social media. Both video game companies, as well as esports and sports organisers, will

benefit from this knowledge. Moreover, this study contributes to digital fandom studies, and esports fans would also want to learn about their contributions and influence on social media for the *LoL* community.

Hence, to create a foundation for further study into esports fandom on social media use, this study will provide an exploratory base by answering the following research question: How do the LoL World Championship spectators construct their digital fandom identity through social media usage?

Brown et al.'s research explored the relationship between spectatorship and social media use, concentrating on esports consumption (2018). However, This research wants to know the motivations behind watching the *LoL* World Championship, the use of social media for esports viewers, and their fandom identity construction through media use. Therefore, the sub-questions are:

Sub 1: What motivates spectators to watch the LoL World Championship?

Sub 2: What motivates spectators of the LoL World Championship to share/create game-related content on social media use?

Sub 3: How do these experiences construct spectators' digital fandom identities?

1.2 Overview of the thesis structure

To present the findings of this study, which seeks to address the research questions mentioned above, this Master's thesis will be structured into five sections. The introduction chapter introduces the research questions and gives the context of this study. The following chapter reviews the previous knowledge and presents the key concepts and empirical studies to provide the academic foundation of the theoretical framework for this research. A third chapter detailed explains the methodology employed to conduct this study. Then, the next chapter presents three main themes obtained from interviews with spectators of the *LoL* World Championship. Finally, the thesis ends with a conclusion chapter of key findings, implications, limitations, and future suggestions.

2. Literature Review

The previous literature has offered the essential conceptual framework which this research built upon. To answer the research question, the uses and gratifications theory (UGT) is defined as the paradigm framework at the beginning. In researching how the *LoL* World Championship spectators use social media for digital fandom identity construction, the starting point of esports was video game competitions (Hamari & Sjöblom, 2017). Therefore, video game culture, esports and esports spectatorship are explained first. Next, fandom identity is further explored as a theoretical concept in this study. Based on the existing literature, a discussion part of esports spectatorship is present at the end, which leads to the research gap for this study.

2.1 Uses and gratifications paradigm

As a user-centred approach, the UGT has been considered one of the most extensive frameworks to explore audiences' media behaviours (Ruggiero, 2000) and has been widely used in traditional and digital media (Shao, 2009; Sundar & Limperos, 2013) in both quantitative and qualitative approach (Ruggiero, 2000).

UGT focus on audiences' choices of media types and what people do with them based on their need (Shao, 2009). In the UGT framework, media products have limited roles, and the audiences are assumed as active. This can be understood as instead of media products looking for audiences in the market, and the audiences are the ones to select their favourite media purposively among many choices (Sundar & Limperos, 2013). UGT considers users are the ones who make rational choices with full awareness of their own psychological needs when choosing and using the media (Ruggiero, 2000). Researchers adopted UGT to investigate audiences' personal media usage and consumption when mass media surrounded us in media and communication studies (Barker, 2021). Moreover, UGT helps researchers understand individuals' social and psychological motivations behind media consumption (Katz et al., 1973).

Katz et al. (1973) have provided five needs categories to consume media: cognitive needs, affective needs, personal integrative needs, social integrative needs, and escapism needs (Tan, 1985). Cognitive needs refer to people satisfying their curiosity by gaining new knowledge on media; Affective needs relate to personal emotions and feelings, such as joy and excitement when using the media; Personal integrative needs can be underhanded as people reinforce their own identity through media consumption; Social integrative needs

related to social interaction with other people by consuming same media content; Escapism needs mean people escape from reality to avoid stress, problem or boredom by using the media to experience instantaneous happiness (Tan, 1985).

McQuail (2010) suggested that the general needs for mass media are based on four categories: information, individual identity, integration and social interaction and entertainment (Shao, 2009). Information refers to obtaining knowledge, facts, and news from the world from media; Individual identity related to exploring their interests, values and beliefs in the media content, which can reflect their self-image; Integration and social interaction concerning people consuming media to share and connect within the communities; Entertainment is about to enjoy and have fun by media (Shao, 2009).

Both models are widely used in media studies and have emphasised the essential motivations of media consumption. However, the choice of the models is based on the research context. In Katz et al.'s model (1973), media consumption can reinforce one's personal identity (Tan, 1985, p. 236). However, in McQuail's model (2010), the need for individual identity is related to self-expression and exploration through one's interests, values and beliefs (Shao, 2009). This study is about esports fandom identity and social media use, which are related to individual interests and self-expression. Besides, fans are more likely to participate in the activities to be entertained (Booth, 2010). Hence, McQUail's model is adopted in this study as the paradigm.

2.1.1 Uses and gratifications theory in game studies

According to Sherry et al. (2012), people have different motivations for consuming different types of media. Although the earliest researchers used UGT mainly for television studies, game researchers have adopted UGT in digital games since the 1980s (Sherry et al., 2012). By adopting UGT as the theoretical framework, Selnow (1984) first identifies the benefits such as companionship and potential risks such as addiction to video game play among young teenager players. In addition, Sundar and Limperos (2013) indicate that digital technology has challenged audiences' gratification when media have developed to another level: the different functions of new media products gratify users' needs with the new technological features.

Researchers applied UGT to identify the individual needs of players for playing electronic games. Sherry, Lucas, Greenberg and Lachlan (2012) explore the uses and gratifications of video games among players. They surveyed college students and found the

relationships between video game preferences and motivations. The study revealed the need for entertainment and social interaction motivates gamers to play more frequently, while players who play video games for education and relaxation need tend to play less.

In some studies, researchers used UGT as a framework to explain why specific genres had been played by audiences. Scharkow, Festl, Vogelgesang and Quandt (2015) examined the relationship between the uses and gratifications of German gamers and their preference for game genres. The results show that exploration gratifications could predict adventure gameplay for players, while fantasy gratifications have a strong relationship to role-play games. Social gratifications are relevant to gamers who play sports and music games. Meanwhile, gamers' age, gender and education level play a significant role in choosing a game genre. Younger gamers prefer action and sports games, while older players favour puzzle and strategy games. Compared to males, female players tend to play more simulation and social games than action and sports games.

Although many gamers play the same genre, their different gratifications lead to different play tactics. Bonny and Castaneda (2022) conducted survey research among MOBA players, and the results show that players motivated by achievement are more prefer competitive and strategic gameplay, and they tend to enjoy playing with more experienced players to improve their game skills, while gamers motivated by socialisation are prefer less competitive and casual play, which related to social interaction when playing the game.

Since esports started to gain popularity at the global economic level (Marelić & Vukušić, 2019), many researchers also using UGT to explore the motivations of esports spectatorship.

It is to be noticed that most researchers employed a quantitative approach when applying the UGT framework in game studies. However, the UGT framework could help researchers to reveal more detailed and hidden gratifications of its users in a qualitative approach. According to Vaterlaus and Winter (2021), adopting a qualitative approach in UGT research can allow a thick description of how the media could meet the need of the users, and explain how the gratifications represent a new media platform. As a result, this study employed a qualitative method in the UGT framework to explore esports spectatorship.

2.2 Video game, esports and esports spectatorship

Despite the popularity of video game play as entertainment for all different ages and genders across geographic distances globally, video game has been unaccepted by

mainstream culture for a long time (Shaw, 2010). The arriving esports tournaments have challenged the negative impression of video game play, and new careers, such as professional esports players, are recognised by national sports competitions worldwide (ISFE Esports, 2021, p. 5). The spectatorship of esports tournaments has largely expanded in numbers over the world through streaming platforms and the internet (Tristão, 2022).

2.2.1 Video game culture in media studies

Bogost (2007) considers video game culture comes from how players interact with video games, and the meanings produced through gameplay experiences rather than the technical characteristics of games themselves. Furthermore, Shaw (2010) presents a similar idea that researchers should "look at video games in culture rather than games as culture" (p. 416).

Compared to traditional media products such as music and movies, video game is a novel cultural form and has been labelled "problematic" somehow (Egenfeldt-Nielsen et al., 2016, p.158). According to Shaw (2010), the video game culture has been viewed as a subculture to the mainstream culture in academic studies and undervalued by the mainstream press despite millions of players entertained by video games for hours per day worldwide. Jane McGonigal (2011) describes this massive migration from reality to the virtual gaming world as a phenomenon in her book *Reality is Broken*, that gamification would transform our understanding of life from offline to online, and this trend is inevitable.

According to Mäyrä (2014), culture is related to cultivation, and the cultural value of video games depends on different perspectives (such as politics and economics) and interpretations from its audiences' experiences. Cultural anthropological studies have shown that games have been connected to human history long ago. Roberts, Arth and Bush (1959) examined the roles of games in different societies and discovered the connection between games and culture. According to the researchers, games are more than entertainment in our history and were used to shape our cultural practices, such as reinforcing social norms, and promoting social interaction and individual relationships. The authors emphasise the importance of studying games to obtain an insight towards the values, beliefs and behaviours of various cultures.

Meanwhile, some sociologists found similarities in social life between video games and real life. Zhang and Kaufman (2017) explore the massively multiplayer online role-playing games (MMORPGs) on players' socio-emotional well-being, and they find that for

some players, the skills for playing MMORPGs have a potentially positive impact on their offline social skills, including communications and leadership with other people. Moreover, according to Wiederhold (2021), social video games can lead to children's social and emotional development, such as empathy, teamwork and problem-solving in life when children have developed healthy gaming habits with the positive involvement of parents.

However, research on video games as a social phenomenon and cultural product still falls behind the technological development of video games (Mäyrä, 2014). Video game culture has slowly changed with the popularity of smartphones and social media use among younger generations. Video games have become the main entertainment activities, and gamers' demographic features are much broader than at any other time (Engelstätter & Ward, 2022). Social media platforms have integrated with networked games and social games and provide more channels for gamers to engage with (Engelstätter & Ward, 2022). In addition, streaming platforms such as Twitch and YouTube allow people to watch others play, which makes video games more easily to access on more media forms.

2.2.2 Esports on rising

Esports emerged and were suitable for massive viewership due to the more advanced computer hardware, visual displays and networks becoming popular and affordable in the 1990s in the US (Larch, 2023). Though esports gained popularity on digital platforms, esports still has limited recognition among people who are outside the gaming communities (Johansson, 2021).

Academic research on esports has been through rapid growth since 2002 (Reitman et al., 2020). The research has covered various subjects, including economics, sports, information application, sociology, regulations, cognitive science and media studies related to esports (Reitman et al., 2020). Based on the focus of this paper, the esports research of media studies is mainly assessed in this part. The earliest media studies on esports argue that digital technologies have blurred the boundary between the physical and virtual worlds. According to Wagner (2006), the players of competitive video gaming share many similarities with traditional sports in terms of physical and psychological demands. This unique subject has offered scientists opportunities to understand the impact of digital technology on human performance and behaviour.

As a new media form, Hutchins (2008) discusses that esports' emergence reaches out to more audiences and has challenged the traditional form of sports and entertainment,

forming a new fan and player culture. Later, the popularities of game live-streaming platforms gained the attention of scholars. Kaytoue, Silva, Cerf, Meira, and Raïssi (2012) analysed the impact of video game live streamings on the game industry. They discovered Twitch is very popular among young male audiences and forms new entertainment with frequent interaction between game streamers and audiences. Hamilton, Garretson, and Kerne (2014) gained similar research results with participant observation on Twitch, and their findings reveal that Twitch has represented the new form of participatory media for fan community buildings in the context of games. In addition, Burroughs and Rama (2015) suggest that esports influence the media industry through streaming platforms, and this new entertainment has disrupted traditional media consumption and formed the unique participatory culture that fuels the growth of esports and online gaming. Furthermore, the economic value of esports is hard to ignore due to global audiences, and esports consumers have drawn interest in studies. Weiss and Schiele (2013) suggest that esports is becoming very important in the game industry, and understanding the needs and motivations of esports consumers is vital for success in business.

2.2.3 Esports spectatorship

According to Marelić and Vukušić (2019), esports spectatorship refers to a new form of entertainment, and the esports industry is connected closely to fan consumption, representing a unique social interaction and community in relationship with esports audience engagement.

In the study of esports audiences, researchers consider esports as "one of the most enjoyable sports" and compare esports spectators with traditional sports such as baseball and basketball spectators (Jin, 2020). Brown, Billings, Murphy and Puesan (2018) conducted survey research in the US to explore the relationship between esports fandom and traditional sports fandom, and their results show that individuals who identified as esports fans are more likely to identify themselves as traditional sports fans. However, according to Hutchins (2008), esports fans tend to be younger, more diverse and more scattered geographically than traditional sports fans due to its technological development.

Fandom is a unique characteristic of esports spectatorship. Cheung and Huang (2011) argue that the difference in audiences in relationship with media consumption is esports fandom culture. Choi (2019) indicates that fan identification is one of the three driving points for esports consumption (the other two are addiction and passion). Anderson et al.'s survey

research (2021) discovered that esports consumers demonstrate their passionate support while engaging with esports content. They have identified different consumption patterns based on the different levels of engagement: those with a higher level of engagement are more likely to engage with esports events and gameplay.

Distinct from earlier studies, Orme interviewed esports audiences who are non-players of video games (Orme, 2022). The results find that non-players interest in esports spectators was affected by socialisation, entertainment and skill learning, which could also be found in players' motivation to watch esports (Hamari & Sjöblom, 2017; Qian et al., 2019).

UTG has been applied when studying esports spectators' motivations. Weiss (2011) has adopted UTG to identify the needs of consumers who participated in esports. This study employed mixed methods, and the interviews reveal that consumers are motivated by factors such as competition, challenge, social interaction, entertainment and escapism. However, the quantitative analysis approves that competition, challenge, and escapism positively affect esports spectatorship.

Meanwhile, researchers have hybrid traditional sports motivations with the UGT framework to study viewers' psychological needs to watch general esports on the streaming platform. Hamari and Sjöblom (2017) found that motivations such as escapism, knowledge acquisition, novelty and enjoyment of aggression had been associated with esports spectating. Qian et al.(2019) further developed the motivation scale of esports spectatorship (MSES); knowledge acquisition and socialisation opportunities are significant for esports spectatorship.

a) Digital technology: The distinct features of esports spectatorship

The studies by Anderson et al. (2021), Qian et al. (2020) and Pu et al. (2022) indicate that esports spectatorship has distinctive features based on the internet context and technological development. Anderson et al. (2021) have conducted survey research on American university students. Though the researchers used sports motivation scales in this research, the results revealed that live stream chats at any time, especially when the viewers' favourite teams are playing, is one important characteristic for social interaction and could increase esports spectatorship.

Another two research on esports spectatorship adopted mixed methods of both quantitative surveys and qualitative interviews suggested some specific results. Qian et al. (2020) have found out some factors such as "chat room, streamer traits, stream quality, and virtual rewards" are not original from traditional sports spectator motivations, and these

elements possibly affect esports viewers' "cognitive and behavioural outcomes" (p. 845). Furthermore, Pu et al. (2022) have found that socialising with the esports community and engaging in-game atmosphere is essential for esports fans.

The results of these studies considered esports spectatorship has some different new elements based on the technological features of esports watching. In addition, the viewers are gratified by the video game competition and the process of using digital media. According to Mäyrä (2014), gaming studies should include technological development as one distinctive feature. Furthermore, Hamari and Sjöblom (2017) consider the computer interface and digital interaction have determined the characteristics of esports. Therefore, based on the previous study, this research aimed to explore more on spectators' digital media utilization in the context of esports.

2.3 Fan identity and fandom

Stuart Hall's identity theory can help us to understand how people construct and experience their identities in complex contemporary fandom communities. According to Hall (2015), identity is a dynamic process and is subject to change based on personal experiences in social and cultural interaction. Identity forms identification, which involves identifying within a particular cultural context or a social group. According to Tajfel (1978), individuals categorise themselves and others into social groups by psychological attachment to their social lives based on various factors. In addition, identity is not a homogeneous form; it is presented in a person as multiple identities mixed and overlapped (Hall, 2015).

"Fandom" represent intergroup relations of individuals and a specific community. This could provide individuals with a form of social identity, such as a sense of belonging, collective interests and shared beliefs, which could help individuals to distinguish themselves from others and find exclusivity and connection to a particular culture. Jenkins (2012) suggests that "fandom" is a form of participatory culture, and this process is constantly transformed and negotiated by the fans' engagement. When the mainstream cultural representations in the mass media could not represent alternative fan communities, fans voluntarily assembled together to create their text, reflecting their own experiences and perspectives to circulate in their communities. In participation in fandom, fans construct their identity through the sense of self and belonging to the communities.

Fandom culture has gained popularity globally through the internet and digital media use since the 1990s (Booth, 2010). Booth (2010) considers that digital fandom study reveals

the complex relationship between digital media, new technological applications, and communities. According to Pearson (2010), technology development breeds online fandom with a new relationship between producing organisations and consuming individuals. Furthermore, Bennett (2014) indicates that digital media have transformed fans' engagement with media platforms, texts and each other beyond the limitation of time and space. Moreover, Bennett (2014) argues that the extensive digital networks of individuals and communications intensify online culture and fan practices. The relationship between people and technology is dynamic and interactive in the transmedia landscape as new cultural products, lifestyles and social activities are created through online communications.

In addition, Bennett (2014) has explored four elements of digital fandom from the constructivist perspective: communication refers to fans' digital interaction, which includes social media, online forums, and messaging apps, while creativity represents fans' productivity and creative ability related to fan fiction, fan art, fan videos, and cosplay based on the original media products to circulate inside fans' communities (Jenkins, 2012). Furthermore, Bennett indicates that knowledge settles in the centre of fandom culture (Croteau & Hoynes, 2019; Jenkins, 2012), and organisational and civic power allow fans to engage in civic activities through social media platforms (Bennett, 2014; Croteau & Hoynes, 2019). According to Bennett (2014), digital fandom demonstrates a dynamic and multifaceted digital landscape, with the complex relationship of media texts, fans, and technology development. In the following sections, we explore three fan identities with a close link to esports spectatorship and consumption: media, game and sports fans.

2.3.1 Media fan identity

In media fandom studies, media fan refers to the attachment of individuals towards a certain type of media consumption, such as television programs, movies, novels, comics, and video games (Booth, 2010; Groene & Hettinger, 2016; Lozano Delmar et al., 2020; Pande, 2018). According to Croteau and Hoynes (2019), user-generated content and online fan communities represent digital audiences' participatory culture. Croteau and Hoynes (2019) have summarised four characteristics of media fans that echo the findings of other researchers: information sharing, communication needs, collective organization for social activism and media content production.

Information sharing indicates that the depth of background knowledge of certain media products distinguishes fans from ordinary audiences (Bennett, 2014; Croteau &

Hoynes, 2019; Jenkins, 2012), while communication needs are boosted by the connections and integrations resulting from the sociality of fandom. Similarly, Vinney, Dill-Shackleford and Plante (2019) indicate that media fan identity must include individual and social dimensions. On the one hand, isolated media fans explore personal meaning in the media content individually. On the other hand, interactive media fans engage with other members of the fan communities to develop stronger connections and social support.

Croteau and Hoynes (2019) indicate fandoms' collective organisation for social activism, where many often organise activities to promote, save and change specific media products and/or support social causes (Jenkins et al., 2016); and media content production, distributed through digital platforms to reach more fans with the same interests, as characteristics of media fans. These are further evidenced in works that suggest several components constructed to media fan identity, including psychological attachment to media, social identification with a fan community, and creative engagement with the media object (Lozano Delmar et al., 2020; Tsay-Vogel & Sanders, 2017). According to Lozano Delmar, Plaza and Martín (2020), media consumption habits, socialisation experiences, cultural background, personal beliefs, emotional experiences, and digital technologies could contribute to the factors of media fan identity.

2.3.2 Game fans: we play, and we do more

Fans in the game studies have been considered game players (Shaw, 2010), and early game studies scholars paid attention to player culture more than fandom culture (Newman, 2008; Swalwell et al., 2017). According to Mäyrä (2016), video game play has a social character, and online gaming communities are significant for video game fans to communicate, support, and learn new skills digitally. Video game fans highly participate in digital platforms due to video games' interactive digital play nature. This distinct mediated feature allows fans greater freedom in creativity (Mäyrä, 2016).

Although game fans differ from other media fans in some aspects, the elements of digital fandom (Bennett, 2014) and media fans (Croteau & Hoynes, 2019) show themselves among game fans in video game communities. Wirman (2009) discusses the activity of game playing itself as textual productivity for game fans. Gamers express themselves and reinterpret their game experiences through a technological interface within the game design while playing (Lima, 2017; Wirman & Jones, 2022). At the same time, other media fans need to produce their own mediated products, such as fan fiction and videos outside of original

media consumption activities, although these are also practices within game fandoms (Bennett, 2014; Jenkins, 2012; Taylor, 2018).

Wirman (2009) suggests that online forums are the central communities in which video gamers interact with each other. A study by Saldanha, Silva and Ferreira (2023) indicates that game communities combine traditional and contemporary communities, connecting people voluntarily with shared values, and bridging the digital world and offline reality with diverse backgrounds. Game fans seek information about the gameplay in the game communities and other skills related to the game content. Blight (2016) conducted survey research on Twitch and found that one of the gratifications for video game fans to integrate with Twitch streamers is learning the game strategies. Another study conducted by Pearce (2009) on the online game community finds out that people use the gaming platform not only to entertain themselves but also to construct a "learning community" (p. 13). Players play roles and socialise on the media platforms, and they creatively learn skills from each other to produce more creative content for the community, which constructs their own online culture.

Lenhart et al. have researched video games and civic engagement (2008), and found out social integrations within video games affect teenagers to participate in offline civic activities, and video game communities provide opportunities to American adolescents for further civic engagement. According to Lin and Sun (2022), video games played an important role in Anti-Extradition Movement in Hong Kong in 2019. They find video games, such as Minecraft, Pokémon Go, and Animal Crossing, were adopted by protesters to create digital spaces for their activism. Their findings suggest that game mechanics could be used to serve future social movements. Above all, gamers are individuals with diverse backgrounds, interests and experiences, and they have shaped their identities through digital media interactions with games, platforms and communities (Mäyrä, 2014).

2.3.3 Sports fan identity

In the research of esports viewership, researchers hybrid traditional sports spectatorship motivations to study esports audiences (Anderson et al., 2021; Choi, 2019; Hamari & Sjöblom, 2017; Pu et al., 2022; Qian et al., 2020). As a result, sports fan identity is elaborated here to understand esports fandom better.

In the context of sports, Lock and Funk (2016) discuss that by identifying themselves with a specific sports team, sports fans can identify their uniqueness and find a sense of

belonging with other team supporters. Sports fandom identifies people in two aspects, one is social identity, and the other is personal identity (Shuv-Ami & Toder Alon, 2023). Social identity refers to an individual's personal relationship bond with others due to the performance of their favourite team and/or athlete. Sports fans often utilise this shared identity to engage in activities with other fans, such as attending a game with friends and wearing the same apparel to support the team. Personal identity refers to how this fandom identity influences their sense of self. The team's performance is essential to their overall mood, such that they feel proud when the team wins and frustrated when the team loses.

Team loyalty is one crucial feature for sports fans (Shuv-Ami & Toder Alon, 2023). The upbringing context, geographic proximity, team success, social identity and personality are the factors that affect fans' loyalties to the sports team. With higher team loyalty, sports fans will positively support their favourite team, such as attending the game and cheering for victories. On the contrary, sports fans with a lower level of team loyalty will behave more negatively when the team performs poorly in the games. Moreover, the negative behaviours include criticising the team and cheering for the opponent team.

Based on the literature, media fan identity has some specific features because of the dynamic feature of media types and engagement with digital media usage. In comparison, sports fan identity construction is still strongly related to traditional sports-watching activities. As a result, it is interesting to know how esports fans view themselves, especially the fans of the most popular esports tournament, the *LoL* World Championship. On the one hand, esports spectators are growing in the digital media era with new technological experiences in daily media consumption. On the other hand, esports spectators are original video game fans (Hamari & Sjöblom, 2017). It is hard to be entertained by esports without an interest in video games.

2.4 Debate: Are esports audiences equal to sports audiences?

Researchers found that esports activities share some similarities with traditional sports activities, such as players' mental and physical abilities (Wagner, 2006). Furthermore, in the studies of esports audiences, researchers compared esports spectators with sports spectators (Brown et al., 2018; Hutchins, 2008; Jin, 2020).

However, the existence of esports is entirely different from sports competition. Esports tournaments were originally developed from video games, which are the intellectual property of game publishers according to the law (Brickell, 2017). According to Cranmer et

al. (2021), the differences between esports and traditional sports vary in target audiences, business models, content developments and players' healthy conditions. This thesis explores esports spectatorship. As a result, some differences between esports and traditional sports audiences are discussed in this part.

The most distinctive feature between esports and traditional sports is the application of digital technology. According to Hamari and Sjöblom (2017), esports is a competitive game between teams, and the difference between esports and sports is the use of technology interfaces. This digital characteristic could also find in esports spectatorship. Esports get popular among people who grew up in the information age and have become an exceptional worldwide phenomenon due to internet usage (Saiz-Alvarez et al., 2021).

According to Wise and Kohe (2020), geographic locations significantly impact traditional sports consumption, including fan engagement and spectator attendance of sports events. However, esports streaming platforms have challenged location preferences, and esports tournaments worldwide information can be easily accessed through the internet. Woodcock and Johnson (2019) argue that Twitch has a global audience base; live streamers on Twitch could be seen as social media influencers, and their content could be reached internationally, which provides opportunities for global brand marketing. According to Lehnert et al. (2022), platforms such as Twitch, YouTube Gaming, and Facebook Gaming play an essential role in promoting esports to a broader audience base flexibly and contribute to esports market growth worldwide.

Researchers conducted survey research when studying the motivations for comparing watching sports and esports viewership (Lee & Schoenstedt, 2011; Pizzo et al., 2018). They found that spectators consume esports for entertainment and social interaction, while viewers watch traditional sports mainly for affiliation, achievement of attachment, and team loyalty. Moreover, Pizzo et al. (2018) discovered that esports fans are likelier to participate in online communities.

In addition, studies show that esports audiences have higher educational levels due to the complexity of video games than traditional sports. According to a study comparing the game complexity between traditional sports (football) and esports titles (*League of Legends*), the authors have found esports titles are much more complex in terms of games' rules (NFL/Football:3 versus LCS/*LoL*:6) and require higher reading levels for viewers (NFL/Football: 9th-10th grade versus LCS/*LoL*: college) (Campbell et al., 2021, p. 44). Campbell et al. conducted an online survey on users' experiences and viewers' understanding of esports tournaments (*Overwatch* and *LoL*) (*Overwatch* is a first-person shooter video game

by Blizzard Entertainment) and traditional sports (baseball and football). The results show that baseball is the easiest to understand for audiences, football is less complex than *Overwatch*, and *LoL* is rated the most complex and the hardest to understand (p. 46). Hence, the unique characteristics of esports audiences, such as younger, game-related, highly diverse worldwide and tech-savvy, require esports businesses to develop marketing strategies based on digital context for economic success (Lehnert et al., 2022).

3. Methodology

To answer the research question, "How do the *LoL* World Championship spectators construct their digital fandom identity through social media usage?", this chapter presents the methodological approaches and clarifies the implementation of the research design, sampling, data collection, operationalisation concepts, data analysis, validity and reliability, and ethics of this study.

3.1 Justification of the method

This research proposes a qualitative exploration of how *LoL* World Championship spectators use social media to make meaning of their digital fandom identities and understand the driving forces behind their esports' spectatorship and social media participation in gamerelated content. Macey, Abarbanel and Hamari (2021) have suggested that esports consumption represents a new media consumption with the characteristics of traditional media and digital platforms. According to Vaterlaus and Winter (2021), adopting the qualitative approach could reveal detailed gratifications of users for their new media preferences, which is fit for this research.

As in the exploratory research, Babbie (2017) indicates that applying the qualitative method could discover the constructed meanings of a specific social phenomenon. According to Boeije (2010), qualitative research is suitable for discovering hidden meanings, and the type of data needed here is descriptive data for discovering concepts, personal perspectives, and individual experiences. Brennen (2017) discusses that individuals produce meanings and construct their social reality through communication in a particular cultural context.

In this research, UGT was applied as a theoretical paradigm. Some existing studies on esports spectatorship on streaming platforms adopted UGT quantitatively (Brown et al., 2018; Hamari & Sjöblom, 2017; Qian et al., 2019). However, exploring esports spectators' motivations for esports content consumption on digital media, including streaming platforms and social media platforms, is much more complex than the previous study. According to Vaterlaus and Winter (2021), using UGT with a qualitative approach could help the researcher identify the gratifications for new media platform usage. Furthermore, this research wants to focus on individual experiences and motivations for esports/game content consumption on multiple platforms, which needs a more specific understanding of viewers' motivations. As a result, employing a qualitative approach is the most appropriate method for this study, allowing the researcher to gain in-depth insights and a more nuanced

understanding of gamers' individual gratifications to engage with digital media, uncover the contextualised data and conduct the comprehensive analysis of their motivations.

Semi-structured in-depth interviews are adopted as data collection as they collect indepth data from the target sample. Johnson (2001) indicates that in-depth interviews could help researchers obtain thicker information and knowledge in academic studies, especially when the data concerns individual experience and perspective. According to Hermanowicz (2002), in-depth interviews provide an opportunity to get close to people and understand their experiences in the worlds surrounding them. Researchers could reveal how people perceive themselves through conversation, and it is the appropriate method to look for identity construction.

Moreover, semi-structured interviews are a flexible approach (Babbie, 2017), which will obtain suitable answers for research questions, explore more depth in data, and adjust the questions based on the theoretical framework if needed. The interview questions are openended questions listed in the interview guide (see Appendix 2), and the structure allows the researcher to ask follow-up questions based on the different experiences of each interviewee. This allows the researcher to get deeper insights with more organic conversations (Brennen, 2017). The semi-structured interview guide is suitable for this research as data collection. The researcher could adjust the questions flexibly as the conversations might end up unexpectedly in different directions.

Thematic analysis was applied as data analysis in this research. Thematic analysis is often used in qualitative research to identify the main themes to answer research questions (Braun & Clarke, 2006). These methods systematically ensure data analysis once the data has been collected through semi-structured in-depth interviews. In addition, thematic analysis is also a flexible approach toward a large amount of data and guarantees the key categories in data analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

3.2 Sampling

The sampling method is presented in this section to explain what and how the data was selected in this research. The sampling process is essential in conducting the research and ensuring the validity and reliability of the research results.

The population of this research is *LoL* World Championship spectators who use social media. The population is not limited to a particular geographic position due to digital fandom's technological and global nature. Transnational fan communities have actively

formed online across national borders and powerfully influenced global culture (Lee, 2016). According to Newzoo (Tristão, 2022), 50% of esports audiences are under the age of 35 globally. In this research, *LoL* World Championship spectators who used social media between ages 18 to 35 are considered the units of analysis. In addition, the sampling criteria are set as follows to select a suitable sample group from the extensive population include: they must meet the criteria of watching the broadcast of the 2022 *LoL* World Championship Final last year and the 2023 *LoL* regional Spring Split, including European region (LEC), Chinese region (LPL), South Korean region (LCK), American region (LCS) or others for at least once a month and lasting at least 30 minutes (the average full game duration is 33 minutes) during February and March 2023 through streaming platforms; use social media to share/create esports/game-related content weekly in their interest.

According to Boddy (2016), the sampling size is determined by data saturation in qualitative research design. There is no universal rule for researchers to determine the appropriate sampling size in a qualitative approach. For the scope of a master thesis and time limitation, the sample size for this study was set at 12 informants of any gender. Theoretical saturation is considered as soon as no more new information emerges from interviews (Boddy, 2016).

Due to the feasibility of the research, the sampling strategy is purposive sampling combined with snowball sampling. According to Babbie (2017), purposive sampling is a nonprobability-sampling method based on specific criteria and is commonly used in qualitative studies. Purposive sampling has two advantages for this study. First, purposive sampling could allow the researcher to target participants with specific experiences, such as watching the *LoL* World Championship and using social media to share/create game-related content, ensuring the informants could answer questions related to this research. Second, purposive sampling could guarantee the diversity of the sampling, providing different perspectives and experiences of individuals (Campbell et al., 2020). In this research, the researcher wanted to analyse the digital fandom of game fans, and the purposive sampling method allowed the researcher to select informants with more international backgrounds, which would be representative of the population.

Moreover, snowball sampling is the most used and functional sampling strategy when researchers obtain specific knowledge and access to a new social group (Noy, 2008). In this case, because of the time limitation, some participants were selected through purposive sampling, and some were through snowball sampling.

3.3 Data collection

The researcher recruited the interviewees in three different ways. Some informants were recruited from the local student association Erasmus Esports; some informants were recruited through the researcher's networks; others were recruited through social media.

Erasmus Esports is a student esports association in the city of Rotterdam (Erasmus Esports, 2023) with more than a hundred members of various nationalities currently studying in Rotterdam and are interested in video game play. The researcher joined the association and asked the eligible students for interviews during the weekly meetings between March and April. Though most informants are from Erasmus University Rotterdam, the international students' proportion is high in the institution.

The researcher asked friends for help through Whatsapp and WeChat, and three informants who matched the criteria responded. Moreover, the other three participants who were interested in the topic were recruited from the Chinese social media Douban.

Additionally, there was no expectation of gender distribution of males and females when the researcher started looking for informants. However, after the recruitment, the distribution of participants' genders was balanced, which ensured the limitation of gender bias in this research (see Appendix 1).

Because of the researcher's background, the interviews were conducted in two languages, English and Chinese. To ensure complete research transparency, the researcher emailed interviewees about the research purposes when contacting target informants. After the interviewees' agreement, an informed-consent form was sent to them before the interviews were arranged.

The semi-structured interviews, of about 45 minutes to an hour, are comprised of questions based on the theoretical framework (see Appendix 2). The interviews will start with an introduction as thanks and an explanation of the research programme, followed by a three minutes game for interviewees to play. The game included knowledge of the *LoL* game and the *LoL* World Championship (see Appendix 3), which was designed for *LoL* gamers and *LoL* World Championship spectators. The game helped the researcher to build rapport with interviewees. The icebreaker questions immediately followed up related to *LoL* gameplay, and the main questions were asked when the trust was built (Hermanowicz, 2002).

The interviews took place in two different ways regard to the participants' geographical location. One is offline interviews in Rotterdam and Utrecht, where the place was convenient for both interviewer and interviewees. The other was online interviews, mainly with three Chinese who were not in the Netherlands. A Chinese app — WeChat, was

used for it. The researcher also took field notes during the interviews. The interviews were recorded by phone and computer and transcripted by the online transcript software Otter.ai (English) and Xunfei (Chinese) and further revised manually to fix inconsistencies and other potential mishaps.

There were eight interviews conducted in English and five in the Chinese language, and for the convenience of analysis and writing the reports, the researcher translated the Chinese interviews into English.

3.4 Operationalisation

This section presents the guiding concepts from the research question. According to Babbie (2017), operationalisation is essential for developing concepts from theory, and preparing for data analysis in the study. The study aimed to explore the motivation of *LoL* World Championship spectators using social media and constructing their fan identities. The literature review has provided an overview of related concepts to answer the research question. As a result, *the basic needs for media consumption* (McQuail, 1983, 2010; Shao, 2009) were included in the framework. Furthermore, the *motivation of esports spectatorship* (Hamari & Sjöblom, 2017; Qian et al., 2019) was adopted to understand better the reasons behind spectating the *LoL* World Championship to analyse fans' engagement with watching esports. In addition, four characteristics of *digital fandom* (Bennett, 2014; Croteau & Hoynes, 2019) were applied to the topic lists (see Table 1).

Table 1: Operationalisation of the concepts

Concepts		Sample questions in the topic lists
UGT of social media use for	Information	What are the benefits of checking/sharing/creating game-related content on social media for you?
game-related content (McQuail, 1983, 2010; Shao, 2009)	Individual identity	Describe how you feel when you check/share/create game-related content on social media.
	Integration and social interaction	Do you join any online game/esports groups related to the <i>LoL</i> World Championship on social media? And how is it?
	Entertainment	Describe the most interesting game-related content for you have ever shared/created on social media.

Motivations of	Escapism	Can you list some reasons you like to watch it?
esports spectatorship (Hamari & Sjöblom,	Knowledge acquisition	What do you gain from watching the game?
2017; Qian et al., 2019)	Novelty	Can you list some reasons you like to watch it?
	Enjoyment of aggression	Describe the most exciting moment while watching last time.
	Socialization opportunities	Do you prefer to watch alone, or do you like to watch with your friends? Why?
		Describe when you are watching the game with your friends; what do you do?
	Entertainment	Can you list some reasons you like to watch it?
Digital fandom	Communication	What is your personal experience with online game/esports groups on social media?
(Bennett, 2014; Croteau & Hoynes, 2019)	Creativity	Describe the most interesting game-related content for you have ever shared/created on social media with your online game/esports groups?
	Knowledge	What is your personal experience with online game/esports groups on social media?
	Organizational and civic power	Describe the most interesting things you did with online game/esports groups on social media.

3.5 Data analysis

This section explains how data was analysed in this study. The thematic analysis was chosen for analysing data in this research. According to Boeije (2010), thematic analysis is used in qualitative research to identify the central themes from raw data through coding to answer the research questions. In addition, Guest, MacQueen and Namey (2012) indicate that textual data, such as interview transcripts, could include multiple layers of meaning, nuances, and contradictions. Using thematic analysis could systematically distinguish and interpret the themes from the data. As a result, Adopting thematic analysis in this research helped to identify and report the patterns of identities sought in this thesis's research question so that the analysis might contribute to a broader understanding of the game fans.

The analysis employed Braun and Clark's model (2006) because of the data-driven nature of this research. There are six steps in total. The first step is to be familiar with the data set. It is vital to go through the whole data before coding, including the transcripts and the field notes; the first step help researcher understands better of the context and grasps the comprehensive scope of the data. Next, generating the initial codes in the data. At this stage, the whole raw dataset needs to be broken down into fragments, and all the relevant data should be identified and coded in this step. It is important to note that all the data need to be coded systematically to reflect the concepts from the theory, and additional codes are possibly emerging from the data. The third step is looking for potential themes in data, and find the similarities and differences between initial codes, and determining the categories and sub-categories based on the patterns in the dataset. After identifying the potential themes, reviewing the themes is essential to make sure the coherence and rationality of the data category in the last step. Then, defining and naming themes is the next step to describe the themes carefully. Relevant themes must be captured and reflect the concepts to answer the research question(s). The final step is producing the report; the main themes should be logical and reasonable to report in the results part (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

3.6 Validity and reliability

Qualitative researchers need to consider validity and reliability to evaluate the quality and credibility of the findings in the studies (Brennen, 2017). In qualitative research, validity refers to the accuracy and authenticity of the findings; while reliability refers to consistency and stability in the research results (Golafshani, 2003). Challenges including subjective interpretation, researcher bias, small sample size and generalisability of the research population are critical to affect the authenticity and trustworthiness of the study (Babbie, 2017; Silverman, 2013). As a result, qualitative researchers should make suitable decisions and be transparent about the research design, method and data analysis to guarantee the quality of the final results (Nowell et al., 2017).

Several considerations were undertaken to ensure this research's quality is credible and trustworthy. The researcher has made transparent explanations and justifications for the choice of research methods, sampling, data collection and analysis to ensure the results can be verified (Nowell et al., 2017). According to Noble and Smith (2015), transparency of all the research steps is essential for academic study, which allows other researchers to acquire

the same results through the same research procedures. This process ensures the reliability of the research.

To answer the research question, the researcher needs to ensure that the methodology is consistent with the purpose of the study and elaborate a suitable sampling method to guarantee the validity of the research. Furthermore, a semi-structured interview guide ensures interview flexibility with follow-up questions based on participants' different experiences (Hermanowicz, 2002). The interviews were recorded and transcripted. At the same time, writing memos also took part in the data analysis process because notes will help the researcher understand the participants' behaviours during interviews. According to Nowell et al. (2017), data and memos support the quality of data analysing procedures. Meanwhile, the researcher also made detailed explanations of the theoretical framework, methodology and data analysis to present the study's purpose to other readers (Nowell et al., 2017).

Patton (1999) indicates that the reflexivity of the researchers in academic study is also essential and potentially affects the credibility of qualitative analysis, which is the researchers' own biases and assumptions. The researcher acknowledges her personal and professional backgrounds, beliefs and values that might affect the research findings and keeps reflecting during the data collection and analysis process to reduce researcher bias in this research. The researcher must reflect on her role during the data collection and analysis to ensure a professional and unbiased study. The researcher was born and raised in China, and using a second language to conduct this research might take a lot of work. However, her personal interest in the game *LoL*, the *LoL* World Championship, the esports industry and how fans engage with online communities helps her understand the individual experiences when analysing the data.

3.7 Ethics

All interviewees received an informed consent form (see Appendix 5) before the interviews were conducted to guarantee ethical considerations. The informed consent form includes basic information about this study; interviewees can also find their rights on it. Moreover, at the beginning of the interviews, participants were asked again about their consent verbally and signed the consent form before recording. The participants were also informed that their identifying information would not be present in the report, and the data was only used for transcribing the interviews by the researcher. In addition, the participants can withdraw at any time during the interviews.

4. Results

This research aims to answer the research question: How do the LoL World Championship spectators construct their digital fandom identity through social media usage? The data was collected from 12 in-depth interviews with LoL World Championship viewers between the ages of 20-27 who also use social media for game-related content. The thematic analysis was adopted as data analysed in this study.

As described earlier, esports fandom emerges in the digital environment. It considers people who share the same interest in watching online games and interacting with each other to build digital communities for raising their psychological belongings and social interactions (Qian et al., 2019). The findings support that esports fandom, as a newly emerging online community, shares similarities with digital fandom and video game communities. The main findings are related to three topics: the appealing characteristics of the *LoL* tournament for spectators, digital media use for socialisation opportunities, and knowledge acquisition for spectators are presented in this section. Several themes are emerging under each topic (see Table 2).

Table 2. Main topics and sub-themes of findings.

Themes	Sub-themes	Examples
Appealing characteristics of the <i>LoL</i> tournament for spectators	Complex and attractive game to play	This kind of game is still suitable because it is more enjoyable for everyone to sit and play together. (R5)
	Specialisation in esports organisation	I feel like Riot actually gives back with cinematics and stuff, which just keeps you interested in the game. (R9)
	Bondings with <i>LoL</i> tournament on social media	The LPL has a lot of memes on social media, and the LPL region always has fun memes. (R12)
Digital media use for socialisation opportunities	Streaming platform preference for socialisation opportunities	But on Twitch, there's like a specific communityit makes you feel part of the community, and makes you feel more inclined to watch more. (R2)
	Socialisation opportunities with digital media integration while spectating	Even though you are watching it alone at home, it includes discussion posts on forums, real-time bullet comments, and everyone will leave comments after the game end. (R11)

	Mobile social networks for communications/social interaction	We also tend to share those from Reddit in the WhatsApp group. And there, we will discuss it with each other. (R8)
Knowledge acquisition of <i>LoL</i> tournament for fans	Knowledge acquisition by spectating esports on streaming platforms	So if I watch something (esports), I want to learn something from them. (R4)
	Knowledge acquisition and information sharing on social media	There are professional commentariesThey will write more professional analysis comments on social media for game details. (R10)

4.1 Appealing esports tournament to watch: the uniqueness of the *LoL* World Championship

This section addresses the characteristics of the *LoL* World Championship's uniqueness in the esports business. The *LoL* World Championship turned out to be the most appealing esports tournament globally by viewership — but why? The popularity of *LoL* gameplay has proven its business success in the video game industry, and the professional organisation of the *LoL* tournament has become one of the critical elements to attract spectators. Due to the *LoL* World Championship being held each year at different dates and regions, the organisation have various strategies for promoting the *LoL* World Championship to attract audiences and grow viewership. These strategies appeal to the viewers' interest and emotional bonding with the *LoL* World Championship.

4.1.1 Complex and attractive game to play: Emotional attachment for spectating LoL tournament

Hamari and Sjöblom (2017) indicate that the esports spectators are game players. When asked how participants started spectating the *LoL* World Championship, all participants agreed that this journey started with *LoL* gameplay. Moreover, they could understand the game rules while watching due to the years invested in playing, which made them feel attached to this esports tournament (see Appendix 1). Although all the interviewees are players of the *LoL*, not all of them played the game first. Two respondents said they first watched the tournament, found this game interesting, and then started playing *LoL*. The remaining respondents played the *LoL* game before started watching the tournament.

Understanding the game rule is significant for watching esports tournaments.

According to Campbell, Goss, Kyle and Claypool (2021), the *LoL* World Championship has

the most complex game rules and requires spectators to acquire a higher educational level for understanding. (see Image 1) Respondent 8 watched esports before playing. She stated, "Because from personal experience, when I started watching esports before I played the game, it was difficult to follow what happened, especially when teamfights break. (...) Back then, I could not follow almost anything."



Image 1. LoL World Championship 2022 screenshot, retrieved from YouTube, May 26, 2023.

Due to the complex game rules, the gameplay is vital in spectating the *LoL* World Championship. Most of the participants of this study had played for around ten years and had above-average levels (see Appendix 1). In addition, some interviewees played in the student *LoL* tournaments at universities, which means they have a better understanding of the *LoL* game. Respondent 7 stated: "So it's the one I've invested a lot more time in...In some esports, I have a vague idea, but this (the *LoL* World Championship), I have a really good understanding."

This "good understanding" could allow spectators to feel emotionally close to the *LoL* World Championship than other esports tournaments. Respondent 8 stated that she does not watch other esports tournaments, even games with the same genre: "I don't watch *Dota* (Defense of the Ancients, a game by Valve). I have no connections to *Dota*, and while it is still a MOBA [game genre], it feels very different compared to *LoL*; it's a lot harder to follow because of the different strategies."

In this study, six interviewees watched other esports tournaments; the rest only watched the *LoL* World Championship. There is only one interviewee who consumed a lot of different esports tournaments. For the rest interviewees who watch other esports tournaments,

the number of times to watch other esports titles cannot compare with the *LoL* World Championship. The main reason is also related to their gameplay habit. To play well in *LoL* takes much time, and other esports tournaments also require time to gain knowledge. Respondent 9 stated, "With other esports, I don't have that connection. Because I'm not that intuitive compared to *LoL*, I just don't have the necessary knowledge to follow everything."

However, to all the interviewees, the game rules of *LoL* is one of the most attractive elements for them to play the game, such as team play, communication and coordination within the gameplay (Riot Games, 2023c). Respondent 5 said, "This kind of game is still suitable because it is more enjoyable for everyone to sit and play together." Nine respondents admitted that they played this game because they liked to play with friends and had much fun together, and ten respondents still played with friends when conducting the interviews. According to Toth, Conroy and Campbell (2021), compared to other game genres, the players of MOBA games have higher levels of socialisation within the game, and they prefer teamwork and communication skills.

The interviews indicated that gameplay is essential for spectators because they can understand the esports content. At the same time, the unique game rules allow the spectators to build friendships within the game, and they feel more emotionally connected to the gameplay, which also leads to spectatorship of this tournament.

Besides, because the viewers are game fans, there is a charming reason for gamers to watch the *LoL* tournament on the Riot website: the company provides virtual rewards for the spectators in the game (providing free game skins). The interviewees who used the Riot website have all mentioned this point. Respondent 10 lives in China and has to use the VPN to cross the government firewall and watch the *LoL* tournament on the original Riot website. She said.

I watched on the official platform because it has virtual rewards – some skin rewards. Otherwise, who will use it? It's so troublesome to make it. I especially need to use VPN to get out of my country[China] and watch it.

The interviews showed that all the participants are familiar with the *LoL* game, and this gaming experience makes their viewership for the *LoL* World Championship exclusiveness. Furthermore, there are other motivations for viewers to watch the *LoL* tournament related to specialisation in esports organisation.

4.1.2 Specialisation in esports organisation: Riot company did a good job!

Although esports are getting increasingly popular among young people globally, and the revenues of the esports market are rising yearly (Tristão, 2022), the interviewees were aware of the shortcomings of many tournaments that were not professionally organised. The list of issues raised by interviewees includes the professional skills of the players, the level of competitions, the scale of the tournaments, the quality of the organisation, the promotions of the competitions and teams on social media, and the quality of broadcasting. However, interviewees consider that the *LoL* World Championship is better than other esports tournaments in terms of scales, professional competition levels, promotions and event quality compared to other esports titles.

Scale is significant when spectators want to watch an esports tournament. Most interviewees who watched other esports tournaments agreed that many are hard to compare with the *LoL* tournament in scale. Respondent 1 said:

The other events are relatively small, or their scale is not perfect, because their audience is also very small in size. For example, I know many events, and they called themselves "world championships" or something, but in fact, there were very few participants; the scale is also limited to specific teams in a particular country.

However, nine respondents agreed that the organisational size of the *LoL* World Championship is reached an international level, which is attractive to them. Respondent 4 said, "They are one of the biggest ones," and Respondent 7 stated, "This is a very global setting."

The level of competition for professional players can reflect the professionalism of an esports title. According to Hamari and Sjöblom (2017), enjoyment of aggressiveness and novelty are factors for spectators to watch esports. Enjoyment of aggressiveness refers to players aggressively competing online, making the viewers feel excited, while novelty means new teams and players make viewers feel excited (Hamari & Sjöblom, 2017). Thanks to the extensive player base globally, Riot company has the ability to hold esports competitions in major regions worldwide and encourages outstanding players to participate in global competitions. Respondent 1 said, "LoL is indeed a competition that allows the whole world to participate." As a result, the tournament organisation can attract many new talents from different regions each year, making the LoL World Championship Finals more competitive and unpredictable to watch.

With many teams competing for the final season globally, professional players have to compete aggressively during the tournament to win a seat to enter the final, and even regional competitions are becoming very aggressive in the *LoL* tournament, especially in the China region, due to the number of players. Respondent 12 is from China and studied in Utrecht during the interviews. She used to play in the Student League while she was a college student in China. She said, "To be honest, I don't watch North American and European divisions because I think their skills level is average to me."

On the contrary, the interviewees said other tournaments are not competitive, and the results can be predictable. Respondent 7 watched *StarCraft II* (a real-time strategy game from Blizzard Entertainment), stating that this tournament was not as professionally organised because fewer new pro players competed for the final championship: "Here is the failure of *StarCraft II*. Because it's unlikely that a new player will come and beat him [the old winner]. I'd say their professional scene stays very stagnant."

Moreover, Riot company also update the game and competition every year by adding new champions to the game and changing the rules (Reeve, 2023) maintaining a sense of novelty. These changes in the game not only challenge the new players but also bring challenges to the experienced pro players. Therefore, the results of the competitions are more unpredictable for viewers to watch. Respondent 7 said:

With *LoL*, there are so many new teams and tactics, and the game itself changes a lot in comparison to *StarCraft II*. So I expect there to be a lot more excitement when it comes to *LoL*. It was even more exciting because it was like the top, the best of the best going to lose for the first time, made it extra special.

These changes have stimulated spectators' curiosity to continue paying attention to the *LoL* tournament each year. However, sometimes viewers are not expecting the best team to win but the underdog team to win because they think this is fun to watch. Respondent 6 explained why he loved watching live on the streaming platform: "During last finals, there was a lot of Baron steals [Baron steals refer to a special situation occurs during the match related to a powerful monster Baron Nashor. A team successfully killing Baron Nashor can acquire significant powerful abilities for the team to win, but if the other team manages to steal Baron while the first team is fighting Baron, the game's results might change completely]. Yeah, like many moments where the game went from one side to the other side very quickly."

This unpredictability could also be understood as a novelty in esports tournaments and made a remarkable impression on the fans. Respondent 5 thought this unpredictability distinguishes spectating esports from watching TV dramas. She said, "I think esports is hard to compare to TV dramas. I think it has more factors because it is uncontrollable." This is because the ending of TV dramas is always unchangeable, and it does not matter whether to watch it now or later, but esports is different. Respondent 5 stated, "If you do not watch it (esports) now, you won't have the possibility to discuss the results with friends in time, and then you won't be able to experience it."

The professionalisation of organising esports is an attractive feature for spectators to watch the tournaments. In the eyes of the respondents, the organisation of traditional sports is the profession's standard, and they would like to compare esports tournaments with sports. Respondent 11 "The LoL world championship is already moving towards a certain kind of traditional competitive sports which is more rigorous, or it developed in a more professional direction." In addition, Respondent 12 believed this professionalisation of the LoL tournament came from the standard of Riot company, and two esports tournaments held by Riot (Valorant and the LoL) are relatively higher at the organised level. She stated, "I think LoL, whether it is Valorant or LoL professional events, the promotion is very systematic and complete, and it must be much better than CS: GO (Counter-Strike: Global Offensive, a multiplayer tactical first-person shooter video game by Valve), much better than Dota 2 (sequel video game to Dota)."

These findings showed that the fans consider Riot company has promoted its video game competition on an international level and organised its tournament as a professional business. Obviously, the audiences accept this and have set the standard for professional esports tournaments, which should be like the *LoL* World Championship. Respondent 9 said, "I feel like *LoL* esports is probably the most advanced esports today." Hence, spectating the *LoL* tournament differs from other esports tournaments for the fans. In addition, all the interviewers agreed that watching esports is entertaining for their life in this research. Some participants think competitions are fascinating to watch, and some interviewees find news related to pro players funny.

4.1.3 Bondings with pros: Fans engaging with favourite players on social media

Supporting a specific team for a long time is optional for esports fans. In this study, only two females expressed their support for the specific teams for years, and others were

more flexible about supporting the team. Respondent 4 said, "I think in esports, barely any person has a favourite team." Respondent 8 said, "Basically, you're gonna support the team that wins." Moreover, respondent 12 said, "My favourite team and players are always changing."

However, spectators have at least one or two favourite pro players and tend to support the team with their preferred individual player. Respondent 7 said, "My favourite team is MAD Lions (a European team). But I liked them mostly because I do tend to follow players more than I follow teams." All the interviewees agreed that their favourite player should be a good individual player. Faker is the name mentioned a lot in the interviews. He is the most famous South Korean player in the *LoL* World Championship history, and his team won 3 times *LoL* World Championship finals (Lee & Nishikori, 2019). Respondent 6 stated, "I just like him because he is exciting to watch. (...) if Faker is playing, I am extra excited." Moreover, Respondent 10 said, "If the Chinese team is eliminated, then I watch Faker. If Faker's team is also eliminated, I don't watch other games until the final one."

Fans support the players for personal interest more than expecting their team to win in the competition. Respondent 2 said, "I like Jankos (a pro player in G2 Esports, which is a European team), but they(G2)'re not doing that well. However, him as a person made me root for the team." Furthermore, Respondent 7 said, "My favourite player in Europe is Nisqy, which is MAD Lions' mid-laner. I do like his personality overall. So he's always positive and happy when he goes into most interviews." Respondent 12 said about her favourite player: "I am now a fan of Weibo Gaming (a Chinese team), but I have no idea about that team. I am a fan of this team because of the player. I like TheShy very much.... But the team plays like rubbish."

The *LoL* World Championship is held once a year in October and November (Riot Games, 2023d), meaning the competitions are not throughout the year. During the off-season, though, there are regional competitions at different times, and there are times when there are no competitions to watch. At this point, the company finds other ways to connect to its fans, such as using social media for pro teams and players to interact with audiences. Moreover, the promotions on social media are more concentrated on players' individual images and stories rather than skills and official competition news. Respondent 2 is from Europe, and he followed the pro team and players of LEC (League of Legends European Championship) on social media platforms because those accounts "make YouTube videos of showcase the players' personality."

Although only some respondents were interested in teams' promotions on social media because most interviewees changed their support teams every year, for the participants who have fixed support players for a more extended period, this marketing strategy does work. Interviewees who follow the pro team and players' social media accounts often check for updated news. European and South African interviewees followed the pro team and players through social media platforms, such as Twitch, YouTube, Twitter, and Instagram. However, for five Chinese interviewees, although three of them studied oversea during the interviews, they mainly paid attention to esports content on Weibo (Chinese social media).

There are several reasons for this. First, Chinese interviewees are more familiar with LPL (The League of Legends Pro League, the Chinese top-level professional League tournament), and they all expressed that they support Chinese teams and players with or without their favourite teams in the finals. Second, officially in China, using international social media platforms is impossible because of government policies (Han, 2020). Hence, LPL teams and players could only integrate with their fans on Chinese social media platforms. Third, LPL is very active on Weibo, and there are inside jokes related to the strong cultural and linguistic knowledge of China that only Chinese people can understand well. Respondent 12 said, "I usually check things on Weibo or Douban. Because the drama of LPL is actually quite exciting there." Last, the company Weibo corporation has its own LoL pro team, which is Weibo Gaming (Riot Games, 2023b). In addition, Weibo also acquired other esports clubs and invested in the gaming industry in China for business reasons (Cheng, 2020). As a result, Weibo as a social media created more hot topics on esports events and the LoL World Championship for the game publisher, organisations and fans to promote pro teams and players. This phenomenon is very unique compared to other international social media.

Notably, on Weibo, there are not only pro teams of LPL; European and South Korean teams also have their official accounts. For example, G2 is a famous European team and has competed many times with Chinese teams, which made their name among Chinese esports spectators. They also use Weibo accounts to engage with their Chinese fans. Respondent 12 recalled, "G2 is very active; G2 really enjoy attacking RNG (a Chinese pro team) on Weibo."

This kind of online interaction is very popular among Chinese audiences on Weibo, with many comments from fans. Respondent 1 said:

For the quarrel under the mini blog on Weibo, I will first go to these comments to read fans' arguments; they often leave many arguments here and then read the super chats of some players or specific teams in the centre of the storm, and then find them in the Super League section. Fans always argue in the comments. And it's pretty fun; that's how it feels.

These findings showed that fans are gratified by the pro players' characteristics on social media. Promoting *LoL* pro teams and players on social media without a time limit and using personality characters of players integrated with fans online has created distinctive bondings between esports tournaments and spectatorship. This could be found in other esports tournaments because the marketing mechanism is the same. Nevertheless, in China market, owning a *LoL* pro team made the social media platform Weibo more willing to create topics related to the *LoL* tournament. At the same time, with the high numbers (75 million) of *LoL* players in China (Kamberovic, 2023), the viewership of LPL is also the highest compared to other regions, which made Chinese audiences more willing to follow the *LoL* pro teams and players on social media. As a result, social media contribute to a unique atmosphere for fans to connect with the *LoL* World Championship, especially in China. At the same time, other esports tournaments are hard to compete in due to the number of gamers worldwide.

4.2 Media platforms integration for socialisation opportunities: Streaming platforms, social media, forums, and mobile social networks

Media platform integration is unavoidable due to technological development, and this phenomenon will continue to create more conveniences for users to easily access and interact with various media content and services on different platforms. In this study, users mainly use game streaming platforms to watch the *LoL* tournament online. However, there are exceptions: Weibo broadcasts LPL live on its social media platform, and Google is more convenient if the spectators want to find something specific about the *LoL* tournament. At the same time, streaming platforms such as Twitch and YouTube in the West, Bilibili, Huya Live and Douyu in China are embedded with communication functions similar to social media, forums and mobile social networks for fans to engage. In addition, it is easier for fans to receive information from their own smaller community's messenger groups on Discord and WhatsApp in the West, QQ and WeChat in China, which reduces their use of social media.

However, it creates more private emotional bondings for gamers to connect inside the groups.

4.2.1 Streaming platform preference for socialisation opportunities

There are several streaming platforms for *LoL* esports audiences: the official Riot esports streaming website, Twitch, YouTube, Bilibili, Huya Live and Douyu. According to interviewees, the quality of the community is the primary concern for gamers, especially for Twitch and Huya Live users. In this study, European and South African interviewees who use Twitch to watch esports content paid more attention to communication functions inside the platform than quality. For example, Respondent 2 considers Twitch "a bad platform" and prefers YouTube, but thinks most of the community is on Twitch, thus using that platform more, whereas Respondent 6 finds the live chat messages on-screen "kind of fun" in the platform. According to Hamilton, Garretson, and Kerne (2014), gamers have built more special Twitch game communities than other media platforms, especially for participatory culture.

Chinese respondents indicate they pay the most attention to communication functions on Chinese streaming platforms. Huya Live is a Chinese esports streaming platform with professional game streamers' focus, and provides interactive sessions between streamers and viewers, which is very attractive to esports spectators (Wang et al., 2022) and forms a kind of esports community between famous streamers and viewers. Respondent 11 lives in China and said,

I will use Huya because I have followed the Mid Laner (Mid Laner refers to the champion fight in the Mid Lane in *LoL* game) commentator in the past two years. If he is broadcasting on the platform, I will watch; but if he doesn't broadcast, I will definitely choose Bilibili first.

For interviewees who choose streaming platforms for communities over qualities reasons, they are more interested in participating in a game community with others while watching the live. Respondent 6 is from the Netherlands and stated, "So while you're watching (on Twitch), you see people making jokes about their reaction to something cool happening." Respondent 10 is from China, and she said, "In the case of recording and broadcasting, I mainly watch the bullet comments, and then to watch the key operations of the players, that's it." According to Zhou (2022), bullet comments are a particular function

for streaming platforms in China, and it can be seen as a unique way that young Chinese people use the Chinese language to create an atmosphere of "participatory spectacles" (p. 17) online to interact with other viewers (see Image 2).



Image 2: Bullet comments on Huya Live, retrieved from Huya, 26 May 2023.

Reaction videos on Twitch and bullet comments on Chinese streaming platforms are user-generated content. According to Shao (2009), individuals create user-generated content by participating online to integrate with the content and communicate with others. This participation helps users to build virtual social connections with online communities. Respondent 2 said, "On Twitch, there's like a specific community with emojis and emotes that they can use, and there's a lot of inside jokes. It makes you feel part of the community and makes you feel more inclined to (Twitch)."

Streamers' reactions and bullet comments are very different because of the function. One is the interaction between streamers and viewers (Wulf et al., 2020), and the other is the audience interaction (Zhou, 2022). However, these two functions can provide similar experiences for viewers: engagement with the platforms, interaction with others online, bonding with the same interest, and enjoyment in emotion. The former concentrates on creating an easy, light, and enjoyable atmosphere for peers in a digital environment (Wulf et al., 2020), and the latter provides a strong bonding experience for spectators with linguistics, visuality and cultural knowledge of the same interest (Zhou, 2022).

In this study, knowing other people's reactions towards the same exciting things happening in the game will stimulate connections. Respondent 2 described his experiences as a back-and-forth between looking at the gameplay and the chat on Twitch, which is mimicked by Respondent 1 on the platform Bilibili:

But at some special moments, including whether you almost won or lost, or a certain team battle, you gained a big advantage or disadvantage, it is quite effective to open the bullet comments at this time, you will see how others felt at that specific moment.

Therefore, the different digital functions serve the same purpose: let people behind the digital device feel the existence of other human beings. This feeling will connect them virtually and make them emotionally connected. However, the two functions are presented in different forms and hardly replace one for another. Three interviewees from China and studying in Europe agreed that happiness from bullet comments is an exclusive experience while they watch esports. Respondent 12 only uses Chinese streaming platforms, and she said, "There are no bullet comments on Twitch and YouTube; that's not fun; I won't use them."

However, not all interviewees enjoy esports streaming online communities, especially females. Respondent 8 is a Dutch female who mainly uses YouTube and the official Riot esports website to watch. Other female interviewees are from China and seldom use esports streaming platforms but more general streaming platforms such as Bilibili. Respondent 10 said, "I still use Bilibili the most because Douyu and Huya's bullet comments are too disgusting." This may be because males dominate esports' spectatorship and esports streaming online communities in number. According to Statista's (Gough, 2023) report on Europe's esports spectators in 2022, 37% of the viewers were female, and the percentage of females users on Twitch is close to the esports viewership in the EU (35%) (Wang et al., 2022). However, the total number of female esports viewers in China is slightly higher (44%) (Thomala, 2023), but the number of female users of Huya Live only reached 28% (Wang et al., 2022).

The interviews demonstrate that watching esports tournaments is related to fandom culture and technological functions, and these elements are so essential that they affect spectators' personal choice of streaming platform use. In addition, the different affordances of social media platforms also affect fans' spectating experiences while they watch the *LoL* tournament.

4.2.2 Digital media use for the immersive experience of spectating of LoL World Championship

All the interviewees said that they usually watch esports by themselves at home. However, their experiences while spectating esports are not limited to sitting and watching alone at home, especially for bigger international competitions such as the *LoL* World Finals. The interviewees are very busy when they watch the important esports world finals: they enjoy watching with friends online with the mic on, texting with each other through mobile social networks, chatting in the live chat rooms on streaming platforms with other fans, checking with others' reactions, join bullet comments and share their present feelings on social media or forums. This whole spectating experience is much more than what is found in other media entertainment. Respondent 11 explained her experiences:

I think the sense of interaction is stronger. (...) Okay, even though you are watching it alone at home, it includes discussion posts on forums, real-time bullet comments, and everyone will leave comments after the game end. I think there will always be a feeling that everyone seems to be sitting together watching the finals, and then discussing the same thing very seriously. Like, well, I read more books, and watching movies is a kind of entertainment that one person does. I think it is still very different.

All participants agreed that watching esports is more exciting than consuming other media content such as movies and TV series. Some interviewees pointed out that their time for entertainment is limited, and they tend to spend time on things they are more interested in. Besides, digital socialisation is a very important factor for spectators to watch esports, and this activity could make them feel participate in spectating. Respondent 3 said, "I watched it usually with friends online, and we cheer together, and we discuss together (...) I just wasn't alone."

The appearance of digital media has changed the media consumption usage of younger generations (O'Reilly, 2010), especially gamers. According to Mäyrä (2016), playing a video game is an action that highly interacts with the digital interface. Players with longer playing backgrounds are more used to multi-interaction with media consumption. As a new media form, esports allows spectators to interact with the content and other spectators without geographic limitations. In contrast, media forms such as movies and TV dramas are

less interactive with audiences, and there are three interviewees expressed that they are not interested in consuming movies and TV series. Respondent 4 said,

Well, I don't like movies or TV to watch because it's a little bit too boring. And esports is different. That makes it a lot more fun for me. When I watch a movie, I like to play video games on the side. I have to do something.

The participants who considered older media forms are boring might because of their media usage habits. In this study, the interviewees grew up surrounded by digital media; they started playing video games as kids and have more connection to multi-involvement when consuming media. Thus, esports spectating experiences are intensified by technology development. It is not only the esports content transmitted through media but also the digital medium itself that shapes audiences' behaviours. However, *LoL* gamers' social media experiences are limited to their fandom communities by adopting mobile social networks.

4.2.3 Mobile social networks: Social interaction for spectators

According to Shao (2009), different uses of social media have different motivations: people consume content to seek information and entertainment, participate online for social interaction, and produce content for self-expression. In this research, participants use social media to acquire knowledge, have fun, and produce content to express their feelings and opinions. However, few of them use popular social media platforms such as Twitter, Reddit, YouTube, Instagram, and Weibo for social interaction for the fandom (no one uses Facebook in this study), and every participant has private fan groups on mobile social networks for gaming and esports.

Mobile social networks (MSN) apps are widely used due to the popularity of mobile phones globally. MSN is an application for mobile phone users to connect, communicate, and interact online (Wan et al., 2019). The functions include the message, post, share, group, and network. In this study, all the spectators interacted with people with the same interest in *LoL* play, and *LoL* esports on MSN apps, and the MSNs include Discord, WhatsApp, QQ and WeChat.

Among all the MSNs mentioned above, there is one MSN favoured by gamers since 2015, Discord (Anderson, 2017). This device is designed for gamers to engage with each other with text, voice and multi-media content sharing based on their interests (Anderson, 2017). Due to the restriction of the Chinese government, this app could not be used in China

(Kuhn, 2023). In this study, the participants from Europe and South Africa mainly communicated game-related things on Discord groups. There is no game-specialised MSN in China, and Chinese participants use general MSNs such as QQ and WeChat to communicate with other fans.

Those groups are very private for spectators, and they usually join because they have familiar people online. Respondent 11 said:

Because we all know this esports blogger, everyone gathers in a group (QQ) to follow friends who watch the game in the same province. People usually do not talk about trivial things in life, but whenever there is a game to watch, the group suddenly changes from no one talking to extraordinary conversations.

Although in China the MSNs are mainly used only by Chinese people, people gathered together for MSNs groups in other regions have much broader backgrounds. Respondent 3 is from Poland, and she shared her experience of the first international Discord group with other players from Europe and Africa, similar to a Dutch interviewee Respondent 8: "We have people born here in the Netherlands. We have a friend who is in England. We are one living in Spain. Moreover, we get many people from Aruba."

Gamers have shared many things within the smaller communities with the same interest. In this research, the interviewees use MSNs for exchanging other social media content. Respondent 3 described friends "recommending the YouTube videos" into group chat, Respondent 9 memorised friends sending YouTube links for reactions on esports content on Discord for "fun to watch", and Respondent 7 said he and his friends discussed the information "shared from Reddit into the WhatsApp group".

People use MSNs to communicate when they are watching esports, and digital interfaces such as voice chat and video chat will make them feel that they are mentally together but physically far away. Respondent 2 described his experiences on Discord: "We design a voice chat to take to each other when we watch it, and we also like to joke around together. If something happens and we react to it together."

Using MSNs instead of social media to interact with strangers benefits them. First, all the people are *LoL* players, and they can easily find people to play and watch esports together. Second, they share information with their background, so other members get more information than they are looking for online. Last, some of them are aware of the danger of

the internet and want to keep themselves in the small, safe digital community. Respondent 3 said,

I grew up when people say, "the stranger is danger, do not talk to people on the Internet". The Internet can be dangerous, but if you make sure that people are your age, you can make a lot of business.

4.3 Knowledge acquisition through the *LoL* World Championship: An extensive live broadcasting global tutorial on the *LoL* gameplay

According to Hamari and Sjöblom (2017), knowledge acquisition is crucial for gamers to spectate esports tournaments and learn how to play better and win in the same games themselves. As previously mentioned, the *LoL* is not an easy video game. Especially when the players want to win the game and play in the ranking system (there are nine tiers in the *LoL*, the higher the tier, the higher the skills required of the player), they need to absorb much knowledge. Respondent 7 stated:

It's a very complex game; you have so many interactions, and so many champions, with each having their own skill set. (...) it is almost like learning a subject at a university level if you want to join now because there is so much you have to learn.

Therefore, spectating the *LoL* World Championship is the best way to get there.

4.3.1 Self-learning through watching the LoL World Championship

Learning becomes essential for spectators of the *LoL* tournament, and all informants mentioned the skill-learning process during the interviews. Watching the best players play in esports is the shortcut to knowledge acquisition. According to Anderson et al. (2021), skilled professional players positively affect esports event viewership. In this research, the interviews have shown that the spectators benefit from esports watching, and if they are learning more practical skills from pro players, they are more encouraged to watch. Respondent 3 described her experiences of watching esports as watching live "tutorials" of *LoL* gameplay. Respondent 12 said intimating the professional players is the most effective way of improving play skills, and this is very common among esports spectators – viewers soon use the techniques in their own play.

Moreover, Anderson et al. (2021) indicate that the spectators are likelier to support and follow pro players with advanced tactics and expertise in the competition. In this study,

for the interviewees, the most effective way to acquire game knowledge is to follow the best teams and pro players for skill and tactics, which affects spectators' supporting the team in the competitions. Although fans support a team usually with more complex reasons and esports viewers are more flexible about supporting, winning the competition is a significant factor for spectators to follow the team. Respondent 8 said, "You can see it in the chat, especially when you watch YouTube; people instantly change their minds. (...) but you never supported the team in the first place."

As mentioned earlier, spectators watch esports for knowledge acquisition. Watching the winning team made them feel excited and happy, especially in some critical situations to decide the final result in the competition, and this is an exciting moment to watch for viewers. Respondent 6 is Dutch and supports an EU team, MAD Lion; he stated, "Probably they played quite like a high level in the EU.... They don't play the same way, always in the up like interesting strategies."

There are reasons that watching the *LoL* World Championship is a self-learning process. First, all of the interviewees agreed that they usually use streaming platforms to watch it by themselves at home. Second, everyone's game level and abilities differ, and they concentrate on different skills and tactics during competitions. Last but not least, the understanding level of the game for each participant is different, so they are more used to the self-learning process.

On the one hand, the viewers pay attention to pro players' champion choices, champion abilities, battle routes and teamwork tactics they are unfamiliar with. For example, Respondent 6 said, "While seeing people who are so good at the game doing things that I could not think of, but then they are doing it, and they play like a whole different way of me playing the game... I think it's interesting seeing the strategies they play." Seeing different abilities in the pro play and learning things viewers have never thought of is related to the feeling of novelty. New teams and players bring different tactics, making the competition unpredictable, and audiences are excited about it. They enjoy watching the battles and want to apply them to their play.

This motivation explains why some participants are excited to watch the underdog team fight with the best skilful team. For some interviewees, supporting the winning team does not mean this team should be the best-known high-level-played team, but the not-that-famous underdog team. To support an unfamiliar team is not because of the hunt for novelty; it is still for the knowledge acquisition of the skills and strategies. In esports competitions, spectators possess a comprehensive understanding of the game mechanics. If an underdog

team, despite their average skill level, utilises different strategies to defeat a superior opponent, there must be something exceptional in the tactics to be learned and explored. This kind of unfamiliarity will motivate viewers to support the team fighting in the competitions.

Respondent 6 is an average player of the *LoL* and mainly plays for fun. He was delighted when he talked about it:

Well, because like the one team does win a lot already. And then one team was like, very down at the standings. And they were currently in the finals. So that was kind of interesting. Like you have the one underdog team and the one, yeah, superpower to that.

In this case, the average players understand their play level, and they have noticed that disadvantages in skills can also win the final, which is emotionally related to their play, and encourage them to try more strategies for combating skilful opponents.

On the other hand, spectators with good skills are also willing to watch the battles and notice the mistakes that will affect the game's results. Learning from mistakes is a negative reinforcement of the learning process, and the knowledge has deepened during this process (Chialvo & Bak, 1999). This kind of learning was found in interviewees who are good players. Respondent 4 is a good player of the *LoL*, and he used to play in the Student League while he studied at Erasmus University. His team won Dutch Student League while he played that year. He has friends who play in the Dutch pro team and still plays *LoL* with them. He stated, "I try to always point out mistakes when I see certain things they shouldn't have donewhich are obvious for a spectator, and that's fun to learn from."

Skill learning for spectators varies for players' personal interests and play purposes. For example, Respondent 3 was playing for ranking in the EU region, and she is concerned about gaining personal scores and winning battles. She said,

When I watched it before climbing [here refer to ranking, higher tier approved better skills], I did not understand anything. (...) But after I started climbing and watching more tutorials, I could catch up with what they're doing [in the competition]. It's usually what you can learn the best from pro players in the moments they go for the fence. (...) that's kind of what I learned from.

However, Respondent 2 did not play for ranking but more for fun, so he usually concentrated on learning how not to lose the game. He stated:

I don't rank, so I don't really need to have the stress of really good. But it's still fine to be able to help out and know where you have to go. Because being lost in the game was just disoriented.

For spectators more concerned about the game and skill learning while watching the esports content, the social interaction function on streaming platforms is disturbing. Respondent 8 uses the Riot official esports website because there are no distraction chat rooms. He said, "I tend to watch without the chat because I find it somewhat distracting...that's why I like the esports website." It is the same with Chinese esports viewers. Respondent 5 said, "I don't use bullet comments myself. [it can turn off if people do not use] Especially when there is something special for watching, and then the screen is entirely blocked." At this point, users choose the streaming platforms for accessibility, familiarity and convenience.

4.3.2 Knowledge acquisition and information sharing through engaging on social media

The results found that the motivation for spectators' esports consumption, such as knowledge acquisition, is expanded in their other digital media consumption, namely social media. Although every interviewee mentioned much skill-learning during the spectating of the esports tournament, when asked about social media use, most of them were again related to game knowledge acquisition and information sharing. Due to the complex champions, skill sets and tactics used in the competitions, the player's performances and the unexpected results, fans are enthusiastic about searching, asking, explaining and debating on social media for their findings. McQuail (2010) indicates that information is one of the basic needs for mass media consumption. Furthermore, according to Shao (2009), one of the motivations for users to use social media is knowledge, which includes media content consumption and usergenerated media content production: audiences who consume social media content for knowledge acquisition and produce the media content to provide information to others on social media. Moreover, information sharing on social media is one important feature for game fans (Blight, 2016; Pearce, 2009) to create media content online.

This process is usually displayed as game streamers broadcasting live with fans on streaming platforms with live chat, YouTube game influencers' making videos for esports and comments with other fans, and individual posts on forums and social media analysing and arguing with other gamers. All the interviewees in this research mentioned that using social media for knowledge acquisition and information sharing is helpful for them to

understand the tournament better. Respondent 2 stated that he started making *LoL* videos on YouTube when he was ten, and posted about the *LoL* tournament on social media related to specific esports results explanation and "how specific teams are doing in terms of their games."

For the average players, the level of pro players is high, and average spectators sometimes cannot follow the things happening too fast during the competition, or the game rules change without notice. As a result, live streamers and YouTubers are becoming the best commentators for explaining professional skills and tactics. Moreover, there are many explanation videos on media platforms such as YouTube and Bilibili, and there are more debates for tactics used in the tournament and results on social media and online forums, all enjoyed by audiences who want to improve or showcase their game skills.

Using social media to engage with other fans helps viewers learn things they could not figure out or are unsure if they are right. For example, Respondent 1 said:

Sometimes I will ask questions.... I posted like: "Is this matter really like this? Is it the tactics everyone said, right?" Then there will be many people replying to me, and then I will comment with these people online; I think it is very interesting.

In this research, the interviewees who do not engage much on social media for personal reasons also participate in the *LoL* social media learning process. Respondent 3 is an art student, and ze doesn't have much time for social media, only using YouTube to acquire knowledge to improve her ranking: "I usually watch people who make YouTube videos because they put extra time into explaining." Respondent 12 has a social phobia problem, and she uses social media a lot for entertainment but not for communication with others. However, she is very knowledgeable about the *LoL* game and tournament because of her well-play and game design major. She said, "I only reply [on social media] if others have any questions; if I know the answers, I will reply. Mostly they are about game problems or serious problems about certain players."

Choi's research (2019) reveals that knowledge acquisition can positively predict fans' identification: spectators with higher identification as esports fans have stronger knowledge acquisition motivation for watching the esports content. Furthermore, this motivation not only affects spectators' esports spectatorship. The results of this study showcased that the motivation for knowledge acquisition by esports fans is reflected in their social media consumption of esports and game information sharing at the same time.

5. Conclusion

This study explored the *LoL* World Championship spectators using social media to construct their digital fandom identity. Esports is often conceived as a competitive sport based on electronic computer systems (Hamari & Sjöblom, 2017). Due to its accessibility in the past decade, the *LoL* World Championship audiences are growing exponentially. This widespread diffusion raises the question of *what motivates spectators to watch the LoL tournament*, and *what motivates spectators of the LoL World Championship to share/create game-related content on social media use*. What is more, this thesis researches *how these experiences construct spectators' digital fandom identities*. Building upon the existing literature in the field of esports spectatorship and digital fandom, this study is theoretically and thematically analysed 12 interviews, and comprehensive answers to the research questions were found.

5.1 Main findings

The results reveal that spectating the *LoL* World Championship is an exclusive experience for esports viewers due to the *LoL* gameplay. The game rules, such as team build, communication and coordination with other players, are the most attractive feature for gamers to play for years, and this emotional attachment to the *LoL* gameplay has connected them to the *LoL* World Championship spectatorship. The professionalisation in organising the *LoL* tournament is also critical for fans to watch. Furthermore, enjoyment of novelty, aggressiveness, and entertainment are the essential motivations for fans to watch the esports tournament. In addition, social media have become the main fanbase for fans to interact with their favourite players and other fans, deeply bonding them with the *LoL* World Championship.

The findings confirm that all those media platforms have interwoven with fans' socialisation opportunities to watch the LoL tournament and relate to their social media use for esports and game content. Media platforms are reducing the divergence of function usage on different platforms and creating more user convenience. However, in this research, accessibility is not the only reason the participants are stuck on specific platforms. On the contrary, it relates more to users' cognitive, cultural backgrounds and personal experiences. Although digital socialisation is indispensable for fans, they are more willing to look for intimate friendship and support from their MSNs groups instead of general social media;

simultaneously, they are entertained by collective feelings from strangers on the internet. However, the culture has some influences on the emotional expressions between East and West, which have affected the choices of different functions on streaming platforms. Despite this, the internal demand for socialisation needs is the same.

Knowledge acquisition became the most important motivation for LoL fans to watch esports and use social media. Watching esports on streaming platforms and using social media platforms is accessible to audiences; this accessibility is welcomed by gamers worldwide, making the LoL World Championship a global standard live tutorial on LoL gameplay. Most of all, this esports tournament has attracted the best players worldwide with all kinds of skills and strategies. Fans have gained game knowledge through esports spectatorship and social media, and their curiosity still stimulates them to continue. The interviews showed that social media platforms allow gamers with the same interests to share knowledge with their own experiences and support each other. The massive broadcast, posts and feedback are bridging the bondings between gamers on social media, reinforcing their learning processes and shaping the users' beliefs of their fan identity.

McLuhan (1994) indicates that the medium is the extension of a man's experiences of the world; technologies have extended human senses, cognition and capabilities, and finally altered individuals' experiences about their surroundings. This research proves that the development of esports streaming platforms and social media platforms allow viewers to expand their perceptions, interactions and social dynamics. Technology has changed gamers' media consumption experiences, which differ from previous media forms of consumption.

The findings show that esports fans differ from sports fans in many aspects. Although esports audiences share similar motivations as sports spectators, such as novelty, enjoyment of aggressiveness, socialisation opportunities, entertainment, and knowledge acquisition; gameplay and skills-learning dominate spectators' motivation for esports content consumption on digital media and team support. Furthermore, fans follow pro players due to their skills and personalities and are more than loyal to the team. Despite the fact that nationality plays an important role when fans support the teams in the final World Championship, most esports fans support best-play teams or winning teams in the daily competitions while they are watching.

For Riot company, undertaking such significant game events every year for spectators free to watch on streaming platforms seems a waste of money. However, holding the esports tournament has become the best marketing promotion globally for their game products and encourages customers to engage in-depth for further in-game consumption. In addition,

gamers voluntarily contribute to tutorials and controversial topics of the *LoL* tournament on social media and also approve of the success of the *LoL* World Championship on the international level.

5.2 Implications of the study

The findings contribute to the existing literature on esports spectatorship and digital fandom. Previous studies on esports spectatorship focused on general esports content consumption in a quantitative approach (Anderson et al., 2021; Choi, 2019; García & Murillo, 2020; Hamari & Sjöblom, 2017; Pu et al., 2022; Qian et al., 2020; Sjöblom et al., 2020). New suggestive findings emerged by adopting a qualitative method in this study, such as attractive game rules of *LoL*, professionalisation in the organisation, and bonding with *LoL* tournament on social media.

It was discussed earlier in the literature chapter that digital technology is the distinctive feature of esports audiences (Anderson et al., 2021; Qian et al., 2020; Pu et al., 2022). This research has confirmed the importance of digital media interfaces. It suggests that studies on esports spectators' consuming motivation should consider audiences' overall digital media use as a whole because the media functions on different platforms have integrated with each other. In addition, this research also finds that cultural differences motivate esports fans to use different media, which is new in esports fandom study.

Besides academics, video game publishers, esports tournament organisers, and professional esports clubs benefit from the findings for esports marketing and tournament organisation in different regions, especially for Riot company. As more video game publishers are interested in the esports market globally, finding solutions for audience engagement is important. The results of this paper help game publishers and professional esports clubs to get more attention from audiences on different platforms. Additionally, traditional sports organisations can use the knowledge to develop creative strategies to integrate with younger generations on digital platforms. Media platform developers could also use the knowledge to develop functions for esports fans to integrate. Moreover, through this research, *LoL* fans could better understand themselves and their media use habits.

5.3 Limitations and future suggestions

Although interesting findings are generated from the data, it is essential to mention some limitations of this study. Obviously, ten out of twelve interviewees are bachelor and

master students, and learning is essential for students. Besides, more than half of the interviewees are good players of the LoL. Four interviewees admitted they have ranked in the Platinum tier, and only about 10% of the players who play for the ranking system could reach this level (Kelly, 2022). In addition, four respondents played in the Student League at universities in the Netherlands and China, and one interviewee used to win Dutch Student League while studying. Thus, the results are hard to reflect on ordinary audiences who are average players. In addition, nine interviewees are coming from the Netherlands (4) and China (5) due to the geographic location and nationality of the researcher, and it might be more interesting to hear spectators from famous esports markets such as South Korea in Asia, United States in North America and Brazil in South America (Kamberovic, 2023); those countries also have a large fanbase of the LoL World Championship, and will provide more understanding how fans engage in esports spectatorship and social media platforms. However, this does not devalue the findings of the research. The framework of this study was theoretically based, and the purpose of this study is to explore the audiences using social media for digital fandom identities; rather than the description of their personal online activities.

Regardless of interviewees' backgrounds and social media platforms usage, this study finds that media compatibility has gradually permeated digital fans' experiences. The technology development strengthened the digital fandom culture, providing more interactions for fans to engage and build an emotional connection with each other. Based on this study, Future studies could consider employing the quantitative method and incorporating expansive datasets encompassing diverse international and educational backgrounds, as well as varying levels of gameplay. Emphasising the significance of a cross-national approach will help us to understand esports digital fandom better.

Furthermore, in this study, *LoL* esports spectators have developed more ways for *socialisation opportunities* and *knowledge acquisition* based on the functions of digital platforms and social media use, and their experience of media content consumption connects to all digital media use, not only limited to streaming platforms. Future studies could extend this study beyond the *LoL* World Championship to other game-genre esports tournaments to discover if other game-genre esports spectators have different motivations in their digital media consumption. This is important for understanding esports spectators and their media-using habits for both media product development and business purposes.

Moreover, this study reveals that social-cultural context plays a vital role in digital *socialisation opportunities* for the spectators of similar internal motivations when consuming

esports content on media platforms between the West and the East. These disparities are evident in the viewers' inclination towards specific media functions. The findings indicate that the two functions, streamers' live reactions on Twitch and bullet comments on Chinese streaming platforms including Bilibili, Huya Live and Douyu, are presented in different forms in the West and China, possibly related to linguistics and cultural differences, and cannot replace each other. This finding reminds us that technological and social-cultural processes are interdependent on a macro-level angle. Drawing on the finding of this study, future studies could design research on esports spectators in other Asian countries with a higher viewership of esports, such as South Korea and Japan (Kamberovic, 2023), with a larger sample size. Such studies can enrich our understanding of the social-cultural influence on digital media usage within the context of esports studies.

References

- Anderson, D., Sweeney, K., Pasquini, E., Estes, B., & Zapalac, R. (2021). An exploration of esports consumer consumption patterns, fandom, and motives. *International Journal of Esports Research*, *I*(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJER.20210101.oa3
- Babbie, E. R. (2017). The basics of social research (7th ed.). Cengage Learning.
- Barker, M. (2021). The concept of 'engagement': A cautious manifesto. *Participation: Journal of Audience and Reception Studies*, *18*(1), 177–205.

 https://www.participations.org/Volume%2018/Issue%201/11.pdf
- Bennett, L. (2014). Tracing textual poachers: Reflections on the development of fan studies and digital fandom. *The Journal of Fandom Studies*, *2*(1), 5–20. https://doi.org/10.1386/jfs.2.1.5 1
- Blight, M. G. (2016). Relationships to video game streamers: Examining gratifications, parasocial relationships, fandom, and community affiliation online [Doctoral dissertation, The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee]. https://www.proquest.com/docview/1834017056?pq-origsite=gscholar&fromopenview=true
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 19(4), 426–432. https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-06-2016-0053
- Boeije, H. (2010). Analysis in qualitative research. SAGE.
- Bogost, I. (2007). The rhetoric of video games. In K. S. Tekinbaş (Ed.), *The ecology of games: Connecting youth, games, and learning* (pp. 117–140). The MIT Press. https://graysonearle.com/edu/gamepro/readings/bogost_procedural_rhetoric.pdf
- Bonny, J. W., & Castaneda, L. M. (2022). To triumph or to socialize? The role of gaming motivations in multiplayer online battle arena gameplay preferences. *Simulation & Gaming*, 53(2), 157–174. https://doi.org/10.1177/10468781211070624
- Booth, P. (2010). Digital fandom: New media studies. Peter Lang.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research* in *Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Brennen, B. S. (2017). *Qualitative research methods for media studies* (2nd ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315435978
- Brickell, A. (2017). Addressing integrity and regulatory risks in esports: The responsibility of the whole esports community. *Gaming Law Review*, 21(8), 603–609. https://doi.org/10.1089/glr2.2017.21810

- Brown, K. A., Billings, A. C., Murphy, B., & Puesan, L. (2018). Intersections of fandom in the age of interactive media: eSports fandom as a predictor of traditional sport fandom. *Communication & Sport*, *6*(4), 418–435. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167479517727286
- Brühlmann, F., Baumgartner, P., Wallner, G., Kriglstein, S., & Mekler, E. D. (2020).

 Motivational profiling of League of Legends players. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 1307. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01307
- Burroughs, B., & Rama, P. (2015). The eSports trojan horse: Twitch and streaming futures. *Journal For Virtual Worlds Research*, 8(2). https://doi.org/10.4101/jvwr.v8i2.7176
- Campbell, S., Greenwood, M., Prior, S., Shearer, T., Walkem, K., Young, S., Bywaters, D., & Walker, K. (2020). Purposive sampling: Complex or simple? Research case examples. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, *25*(8), 652–661. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987120927206
- Campbell, W., Goss, A., Kyle Trottier, & Claypool, M. (2021). Sports versus Esports: A comparison of industry size, viewer friendliness, and game competitiveness. In D. Y. Jin (Ed.), *Global esports transformation of cultural perceptions of competitive gaming* (1st ed., pp. 35–59). Bloomsbury Academic.
- Cheng, R. (2020, October 3). Weibo enters the esports market to expand businesses in younger generations. Equal Ocean. https://equalocean.com/analysis/2020100314916
- Cheung, G., & Huang, J. (2011). Starcraft from the stands: Understanding the game spectator. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (pp. 763–772). https://doi.org/10.1145/1978942.1979053
- Chialvo, D. R., & Bak, P. (1999). Learning from mistakes. *Neuroscience*, *90*(4), 1137–1148. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(98)00472-2
- Choi, C. (2019). Understanding media consumption of electronic sports through spectator motivation, using three different segmentation approaches: The levels of addiction, passion, and fan identification. *Sport Mont*, *17*(1), 3–8. https://doi.org/10.26773/smj.190201
- Cranmer, E. E., Han, D.-I. D., van Gisbergen, M., & Jung, T. (2021). Esports matrix: Structuring the esports research agenda. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *117*, 106671. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2020.106671
- Croteau, D., & Hoynes, W. (2019). *Media/society: Technology, industries, content, and users* (6th ed.). SAGE.

- Egenfeldt-Nielsen, S., Smith, J. H., & Tosca, S. P. (2016). *Understanding video games: The essential introduction* (3rd ed.). Routledge.
- Engelstätter, B., & Ward, M. R. (2022). Video games become more mainstream.

 Entertainment Computing, 42, 100494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.entcom.2022.100494
- Erasmus Esports. (2023, April 24). *What we do*. Erasmus Esports. https://www.erasmusesports.nl/what-we-do
- Esport Charts. (2022). 2022 World Championship / Statistics. Esport Charts. https://escharts.com/tournaments/lol/2022-world-championship
- Esports Charts. (2022, November). *Popular esports games in 2022 by viewership*. Esports Charts. https://escharts.com/top-games?order=peak
- Game Marketing Genie. (2022, August 18). What are the best social media platforms to reach gamers on? Game Marketing Genie.

 https://www.gamemarketinggenie.com/blog/social-media-platforms-for-gamers
- García, J., & Murillo, C. (2020). Sports video games participation: What can we learn for esports? *Sport, Business and Management: An International Journal*, *10*(2), 169–185. https://doi.org/10.1108/SBM-01-2019-0006
- Golafshani, N. (2003). Understanding reliability and validity in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 8(4), 597–607. http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR8-4/golafshani.pdf
- Gough, C. (2023, April 28). *Share of eSports audience in Europe as of June 2022, by gender.*Statista. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1192334/esports-fans-europe-gender/
- Groene, S. L., & Hettinger, V. E. (2016). Are you "fan" enough? The role of identity in media fandoms. *Psychology of Popular Media Culture*, *5*(4), 324–339. https://doi.org/10.1037/ppm0000080
- Guest, G., MacQueen, K., & Namey, E. (2012). Introduction to applied thematic analysis. In *Applied thematic analysis* (pp. 3–20). SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483384436
- Hall, S. (2015). Cultural identity and diaspora. In P. Williams & L. Chrisman (Eds.), *Colonial discourse and post-colonial theory: A reader* (pp. 392–403). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315656496
- Hamari, J., & Sjöblom, M. (2017). What is eSports and why do people watch it? *Internet Research*, *27*(2), 211–232. https://doi.org/10.1108/IntR-04-2016-0085

- Hamilton, W. A., Garretson, O., & Kerne, A. (2014). Streaming on Twitch: Fostering participatory communities of play within live mixed media. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (pp. 1315–1324). https://doi.org/10.1145/2556288.2557048
- Hermanowicz, J. C. (2002). The great interview: 25 strategies for studying people in bed. *Qualitative Sociology*, 25(4), 479–499. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021062932081
- Hutchins, B. (2008). Signs of meta-change in second modernity: The growth of e-sport and the World Cyber Games. *New Media & Society*, *10*(6), 851–869. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444808096248
- ISFE Esports. (2021). *Esports: A complete guide by the video games industry*. Europe's Video Games Industry. https://www.isfe.eu/isfe-esports/esports-a-complete-guide-by-the-video-games-industry/
- Jenkins, H. (2012). *Textual Poachers: Television fans and participatory culture*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203114339
- Jenkins, H., Shresthova, S., Gamber-Thompson, L., Kligler-Vilenchik, N., & Zimmerman, A. (2016). By any media necessary. In *By any media necessary: The new youth activism*. New York University Press.
- Jennings, R. (2017, June 22). *How popular is esports on social media?* | *Fast web media*. Linkedin. https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/how-popular-esports-social-media-fast-web-ricky-jennings/
- Jin, D. Y. (2020). Historiography of Korean esports: Perspectives on spectatorship. *International Journal of Communication*, 14(2020), 3727–3745. https://ijoc.org/index.php/ijoc/article/view/13795
- Johansson, E. (2021, June 25). *Game over: Sweden says esports isn't a real sport, cancels the international*. Verdict. https://www.verdict.co.uk/the-international-dota-2-sweden/
- John Funk Legacy. (2011, June 23). *League of Legends championship draws 1.69 million viewers*. The Escapist. https://www.escapistmagazine.com/league-of-legends-championship-draws-1-69-million-viewers/
- Johnson, J. M. (2001). In-depth interviewing. In J. Gubrium & J. Holstein (Eds.), *Handbook of interview research* (pp. 103–119). SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412973588
- Kamberovic, R. (2023, February 3). *League of Legends player count: Here are the stats*. Rift Feed. https://riftfeed.gg/more/player-count

- Katz, E., Blumler, J. G., & Gurevitch, M. (1973). Uses and gratifications research. *The Public Opinion Quarterly*, *37*(4), 509–523. https://www.jstor.org/stable/2747854
- Kaytoue, M., Silva, A., Cerf, L., Meira, W., & Raïssi, C. (2012). Watch me playing, I am a professional: A first study on video game live streaming. In *Proceedings of the 21st International Conference on World Wide Web* (pp. 1181–1188). https://doi.org/10.1145/2187980.2188259
- Kelly, M. (2022, July 1). League of Legends rank distribution explained | LoL Solo queue rank distribution. DOT Esports. https://dotesports.com/league-of-legends/news/league-of-legends-season-2022-solo-queue-rank-distribution
- Kim, Y. J., Engel, D., Woolley, A. W., Lin, J. Y.-T., McArthur, N., & Malone, T. W. (2017). What makes a strong team? Using collective intelligence to predict team performance in League of Legends. In *Proceedings of the 2017 ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing* (pp. 2316–2329). https://doi.org/10.1145/2998181.2998185
- Larch, F. (2023, February 8). *eSports history: How it all began*. ISPO. https://www.ispo.com/en/sports-business/esports-history-how-it-all-began
- Lee, D., & Nishikori, K. (2019). 30 Under 30—Asia—Entertainment & Sports (2019). Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/under30/list/2019/asia/entertainment-sports/#56e8dc625374
- Lee, D., & Schoenstedt, L. J. (2011). Comparison of eSports and traditional sports consumption motives. *CHPER-SD Journal Of Research*, 6(2), 39–44. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ954495
- Lee, H.-K. (2016). Transnational cultural fandom. In L. Duits, K. Zwaan, & S. Reijnders (Eds.), *The Ashgate Research Companion to Fan Cultures* (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315612959
- Lehnert, K., Walz, A., & Christianson, R. (2022). The booming eSports market: A field day for fans. *Journal of Business Strategy*, 43(2), 122–128. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBS-07-2020-0159
- Lenhart, A., Kahne, J., Middaugh, E., Macgill, A. R., Evans, C., & Vitak, J. (2008). Teens, video games, and civics: Teens' gaming experiences are diverse and include significant social interaction and civic engagement. *Pew internet & American life project*. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED525058

- Li, X., Huang, L., Li, B., Wang, H., & Han, C. (2020). Time for a true display of skill: Top players in League of Legends have better executive control. *Acta Psychologica*, 204, 103007. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2020.103007
- Lima, L. A. B. (2017). Configurative dynamics of gender in Bioware's marketing for the Mass Effect franchise. *Kinephanos Journal of Media Studies and Popular Culture*, 7(1), 165–197. https://www.kinephanos.ca/Revue_files/2017_Lima.pdf
- Lin, H., & Sun, C.-T. (2022). Game-assisted social activism: Game literacy in Hong Kong's anti-extradition movement. *Games and Culture*, *17*(7–8), 954–976. https://doi.org/10.1177/15554120211061852
- Lock, D. J., & Funk, D. C. (2016). The multiple in-group identity framework. *Sport Management Review*, 19(2), 85–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2015.10.001
- Lozano Delmar, J., Plaza, J. F., & Sanchez-Martin, M. (2020). An approach to defining the identity of a media fan. *Palabra Clave*, *23*(2), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.5294/pacla.2020.23.2.3
- Macey, J., Abarbanel, B., & Hamari, J. (2021). What predicts esports betting? A study on consumption of video games, esports, gambling and demographic factors. *New Media & Society*, *23*(6), 1481–1505. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444820908510
- Marelić, M., & Vukušić, D. (2019). E-sports: Definition and social implications. *Exercise* and *Quality of Life*, 11(2), 47–54. https://doi.org/10.31382/eqol.191206
- Mateo-Orcajada, A., Abenza-Cano, L., & Vaquero-Cristóbal, R. (2022). Analyzing the changes in the psychological profile of professional League of Legends players during competition. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *126*, 107030. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2021.107030
- Mäyrä, F. (2014). Culture. In M. J. P. Wolf & B. Perron (Eds.), *The Routledge Companion to video game studies* (pp. 293–300). Routledge.
- Mäyrä, F. (2016). Exploring gaming communities. In R. Kowert & T. Quandt (Eds.), *The video game debate: Unravelling the physical, social, and psychological effects of digital games* (pp. 153–175). Routledge.
- McGonigal, J. (2011). Reality is broken: Why games make us better and how they can change the world. Penguin Press.
- McLuhan, M. (1994). Understanding media: The extensions of man (1st ed.). MIT Press.
- McQuail, D. (1983). Mass communication theory (1st ed.). Sage Publications.
- McQuail, D. (2010). Mcquail's mass communication theory (6th ed.). Sage Publications.

- Mozur, P. (2014, October 19). For South Korea, esports is national pastime. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2014/10/20/technology/league-of-legends-south-korea-epicenter-esports.html
- Newman, J. (2008). Playing with videogames. Routledge.
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, *18*(2), 34–35. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *16*(1), 160940691773384. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Noy, C. (2008). Sampling Knowledge: The Hermeneutics of snowball sampling in qualitative research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *11*(4), 327–344. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645570701401305
- O'Reilly, T. (2010). What is Web 2.0: Design patterns and business models for the next generation of software. In H. Donelan, K. Kear, & M. Ramage (Eds.), *Online communication and collaboration: A reader* (pp. 225–235). Routledge.
- Orme, S. (2022). "Just watching": A qualitative analysis of non-players' motivations for video game spectatorship. *New Media & Society*, *24*(10), 2252–2269. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444821989350
- Pande, R. (2018). Who do you mean by "Fan?" decolonizing media fandom identity. In P. Booth (Ed.), *A Companion to Media Fandom and Fan Studies* (pp. 319–332). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119237211.ch20
- Patton, M. Q. (1999). Enhancing the quality and credibility of qualitative analysis. *Health Services Research*, *34*(5 Pt 2), 1189. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1089059/pdf/hsresearch00022-0112.pdf
- Pearce, C. (2009, September). *Collaboration, creativity and learning in a play community: A study of the university of there*. DiGRA Conference.
- Pearson, R. (2010). Fandom in the digital era. *Popular Communication*, 8(1), 84–95. https://doi.org/10.1080/15405700903502346
- Pizzo, A., Baker, B., Na, S., Lee, M., Kim, D., & Funk, D. (2018). eSport vs sport: A comparison of spectator motives. *Sport Marketing Quarterly*, 27(2), 108–123. https://web.p.ebscohost.com/ehost/detail/detail?vid=0&sid=1916dd04-3634-47f2-9605-

- 1b0ddbb8b0fa%40redis&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2ZSZzY29wZT1zaXRl#A N=130519559&db=buh
- Pu, H., Xiao, S., & Kota, R. W. (2022). Virtual games meet physical playground: Exploring and measuring motivations for live esports event attendance. *Sport in Society*, *25*(10), 1886–1908. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2021.1890037
- Qian, T. Y., Wang, J. J., Zhang, J. J., & Lu, L. Z. (2019). It is in the game: Dimensions of esports online spectator motivation and development of a scale. *European Sport Management Quarterly*, 20(4), 458–479. https://doi.org/10.1080/16184742.2019.1630464
- Qian, T. Y., Zhang, J. J., Wang, J. J., & Hulland, J. (2020). Beyond the game: Dimensions of esports online spectator demand. *Communication & Sport*, 8(6), 825–851. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167479519839436
- Reeve, J. (2023, January 9). *Riot teases two new League Of Legends champions, reveals*ranked system changes. The Gamer. https://www.thegamer.com/riot-teases-league-of-legends-champions-reveals-ranked-changes/
- Reitman, J. G., Anderson-Coto, M. J., Wu, M., Lee, J. S., & Steinkuehler, C. (2020). Esports research: A literature review. *Games and Culture*, 15(1), 32–50. https://doi.org/10.1177/1555412019840892
- Riot Games. (2023a). *Who are we? We are Rioters*. Riot Games. https://www.riotgames.com/en/who-we-are
- Riot Games. (2023b). *Weibo gaming*. Riot Games. https://lolesports.com/teams/weibo-gaming
- Riot Games. (2023c). *Welcome to the rift, learn the basics*. Riot Games. https://www.leagueoflegends.com/en-us/how-to-play/
- Riot Games. (2023d, April 23). *Announcing Worlds 2023 venues, dates, and ticket sales*. Riot Games. https://lolesports.com/article/announcing-worlds-2023-venues,-dates,-and-ticket-sales/blt6a406760c6383a51
- Roberts, J. M., Arth, M. J., & Bush, R. R. (1959). Games in culture. *American Anthropologist*, 61(4), 597–605. https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/667148.pdf
- Ruggiero, T. E. (2000). Uses and gratifications theory in the 21st century. *Mass Communication and Society*, *3*(1), 3–37. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327825MCS0301 02
- Saiz-Alvarez, J. M., Palma-Ruiz, J. M., Valles-Baca, H. G., & Fierro-Ramírez, L. A. (2021). Knowledge management in the esports industry: Sustainability, continuity, and

- achievement of competitive results. *Sustainability*, *13*(19), 10890. https://doi.org/10.3390/su131910890
- Saldanha, L., da Silva, S. M., & Ferreira, P. D. (2023). "Community" in video game communities. *Games and Culture*, 155541202211500. https://doi.org/10.1177/15554120221150058
- Scharkow, M., Festl, R., Vogelgesang, J., & Quandt, T. (2015). Beyond the "core-gamer": Genre preferences and gratifications in computer games. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 44, 293–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.11.020
- Selnow, G. W. (1984). Playing videogames: The electronic friend. *Journal of Communication*, 34(2), 148–156. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.1984.tb02166.x
- Shao, G. (2009). Understanding the appeal of user-generated media: A uses and gratification perspective. *Internet Research*, 19(1), 7–25. https://doi.org/10.1108/10662240910927795
- Shaw, A. (2010). What is video game culture? Cultural studies and game studies. *Games and Culture*, 5(4), 403–424. https://doi.org/10.1177/1555412009360414
- Sherry, J. L., Greenberg, B. S., Lucas, K., & Lachlan, K. (2012). Video game uses and gratifications as predictors of use and game preference. In *Playing video games* (pp. 284–262). Routledge.
- Shuv-Ami, A., & Toder Alon, A. (2023). How do you categorize yourself as a sports fan? A new scale of sports fan social–personal identity salience (FSPIS) and its consequences. *Communication & Sport*, 11(1), 28–52. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167479520967278
- Silverman, D. (2013). Doing qualitative research (4th ed.). SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Sjöblom, M., Macey, J., & Hamari, J. (2020). Digital athletics in analogue stadiums:

 Comparing gratifications for engagement between live attendance and online esports spectating. *Internet Research*, 30(3), 713–735. https://doi.org/10.1108/INTR-07-2018-0304
- Smith, N. (2019, November 7). How the League of Legends World Championship became the Super Bowl of esports. The Washington Post.

 https://www.washingtonpost.com/video-games/esports/2019/11/07/how-league-legends-world-championship-became-super-bowl-esports/
- Sundar, S. S., & Limperos, A. M. (2013). Uses and grats 2.0: New gratifications for new media. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 57(4), 504–525. https://doi.org/10.1080/08838151.2013.845827

- Swalwell, M., Ndalianis, A., & Stuckey, H. (Eds.). (2017). Fans and videogames: Histories, fandom, archives. Taylor & Francis.
- Tajfel, H. (1978). Social categorization, social identity and social comparison. In *Differentiation between social groups: Studies in the social psychology of intergroup relations* (pp. 61–76). Academic Press.
- Tan, A. S. (1985). Mass media use and audience needs. In *Mass communication theories and research* (2nd ed., pp. 235–236). New york: John wiley & sons, Inc.
- Tang, T., Kucek, J., & Toepfer, S. (2022). Active within structures: Predictors of esports gameplay and spectatorship. *Communication & Sport*, 10(2), 195–215. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167479520942740
- Tassi, P. (2013, July 14). *The U.S. now recognizes esports players as professional athletes*. Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/sites/insertcoin/2013/07/14/the-u-s-now-recognizes-esports-players-as-professional-athletes/?sh=210cbf943ac9
- Taylor, T. L. (2018). Twitch and the work of play. *American Journal of Play*, 11(2), 65–84. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1200914.pdf
- Thomala, L. L. (2023, May 9). *Share of eSports users in China in 2022, by gender*. Statista. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1019059/china-esports-game-user-share-by-gender/#:~:text=In%20China%2C%20competitive%20video%20gaming,total%20eSports%20users%20in%20China.
- Toth, A. J., Conroy, E., & Campbell, M. J. (2021). Beyond action video games: Differences in gameplay and ability preferences among gaming genres. *Entertainment Computing*, 38, 100408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.entcom.2021.100408
- Tristão, H. (2022b, April 19). The eSports audience will pass half a billion in 2022 as revenues, engagement, & new segments flourish. *Newzoo vom, 19,* 2022. https://newzoo.com/insights/articles/the-esports-audience-will-pass-half-a-billion-in-2022-as-revenue-engagement-esport-industry-growth#:~:text=The%20global%20esports%20audience%20will,for%20the%20remai ning%20271%20million.

- Tsay-Vogel, M., & Sanders, M. S. (2017). Fandom and the search for meaning: Examining communal involvement with popular media beyond pleasure. *Psychology of Popular Media Culture*, 6(1), 32–47. https://doi.org/10.1037/ppm0000085
- Upton, P. (2019, October 9). *Esports in China: Industry boom leads to official recognition*. China Briefing. https://www.china-briefing.com/news/esports-in-china-industry-boom-leads-official-recognition/
- Vaterlaus, J. M., & Winter, M. (2021). TikTok: an exploratory study of young adults' uses and gratifications. *The Social Science Journal*, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/03623319.2021.1969882
- Vinney, C., Dill-Shackleford, K. E., Plante, C. N., & Bartsch, A. (2019). Development and validation of a measure of popular media fan identity and its relationship to wellbeing. *Psychology of Popular Media Culture*, 8(3), 296–307. https://doi.org/10.1037/ppm0000188
- Wagner, M. G. (2006, June). On the scientific relevance of eSport. In *International* conference on internet computing (pp. 437–440).

 https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Michael-Wagner36/publication/220968200_On_the_Scientific_Relevance_of_eSports/links/00b49525
 89870231be000000/On-the-Scientific-Relevance-of-eSports.pdf
- Wang, R., Qiu, S., Hwang, D., King, & Wood. (2010, September 28). *Issues foreign video game developers face in introducing online games to the Chinese market*. China Law Insight. https://www.chinalawinsight.com/2010/09/articles/intellectual-property/issues-foreign-video-game-developers-face-in-introducing-online-games-to-the-chinese-market/
- Wang, T., Chen, T., Ye, Z., Lu, Y., & Yu, H. (2022). The Comprehensive comparison of Huya Live and Twitch. In 2022 2nd International Conference on Enterprise

 Management and Economic Development (ICEMED 2022) (pp. 1226-1232). Atlantis

 Press. https://doi.org/10.2991/aebmr.k.220603.199
- Weiss, T. (2011). Fulfilling the needs of eSports consumers: A uses and gratifications perspective. In *BLED 2011 Proceedings*, (pp. 572–580). http://aisel.aisnet.org/bled2011/30
- Weiss, T., & Schiele, S. (2013). Virtual worlds in competitive contexts: Analyzing eSports consumer needs. *Electronic Markets*, 23(4), 307–316. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12525-013-0127-5

- Wiederhold, B. K. (2021). Kids will find a way: The benefits of social video games. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 24(4), 213–214. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2021.29211.editorial
- Wirman, H. (2009). On productivity and game fandom. *Transformative Works and Cultures*, 3(8). https://doi.org/10.3983/twc.2009.0145
- Wirman, H., & Jones, R. (2022). Overwatch fandom and the range of corporate responses. In M. Ruotsalainen, M. Törhönen, & V.-M. Karhulahti (Eds.), *Modes of Esports Engagement in Overwatch* (pp. 157–177). Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-82767-0 9
- Wise, N., & Kohe, G. Z. (2020). Sports geography: New approaches, perspectives and directions. *Sport in Society*, *23*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2018.1555209
- Woodcock, J., & Johnson, M. R. (2019). Live streamers on Twitch.tv as social media influencers: Chances and challenges for strategic communication. *International Journal of Strategic Communication*, *13*(4), 321–335. https://doi.org/10.1080/1553118X.2019.1630412
- Wulf, T., Schneider, F. M., & Beckert, S. (2020). Watching Players: An exploration of media enjoyment on Twitch. *Games and Culture*, *15*(3), 328–346. https://doi.org/10.1177/1555412018788161
- Zhang, F., & Kaufman, D. (2017). Massively multiplayer online role-playing games (MMORPGs) and socio-emotional wellbeing. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 73, 451–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.04.008
- Zhou, F. (2022). Orality, multimodality and creativity in digital writing: Chinese users' experiences and practices with bullet comments on Bilibili. *Social Semiotics*, 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1080/10350330.2022.2120387

Appendix 1. Respondents and Characteristics

Responde nt	Date of Intervie W	Gend er	Ag e	Nationali ty	Education al level	LoL player	Gam e play year	game play level	still play the game	frequency of watching LoL tourname nt	Watch LoL Tourname nt Started from	Watch other esports tourname nts	Region in watchi ng	Favouri te region	Favourit e teams	Favouri te players	Focus on	Platfor m for watchin g	Social media platfor ms
1	10 April	Male	25	Chinese	Bachelor student (study abroad - Rotterdam	Yes	10 years (play first)	avera ge	not so much becau se of the study	Monthly, depending on the competitio	2015	PUBG, Crossfire, SCGO	World, LPL	China	no	no	tactics and skills	Panda TV, Douyu, Huya, Bilibili, YouTub e	Weibo, YouTub e, Twitter, Instagra m
2	14 April	Male	20	Finnish	Bachelor student (study abroad - Rotterdam)	Yes	11 years (play first)	better than avera ge	yes, weekl	Weekly, depending on the competitio n	2018	Valorant, CSGO, Rocket League	World, LEC	Europe	Heretics, Astralis, G2	Junkos (G2)	tactics and skills; fun things (reaction on Twitch)	Twitch, YouTub	Twitch, YouTub e, Reddit, Twitter, Discord
3	15 April	Non- Binary	21	Polish	Bachelor student (study abroad - Rotterdam	Yes	12 years (play first)	good player	not so much becau se of the study	Weekly, depending on the competitio n	2019	Valorant	World, LEC	Europe	G2	Junkos, Paul (G2)	tactics and skills; communicati ons with friends	Twitch, YouTub e, and LoL official website Twitch,	Twitch, YouTub e, Instagra m, Discord
4	17 April	Male	27	Dutch	Bachelor graduate	Yes	years (watc h first)	good player	yes,	Daily (not to want miss a game)	2013	FIFA, Call of Duty, Dota 2 and more	World, LCK, LEC	South Korea	SK1	Faker (SK1)	tactics and	YouTub e, LoL official website	YouTub e, Discord
5	18 April	Femal e	26	Chinese	Master student (study abroad - London)	Yes	10 years (watc h first)	better than avera ge	yes	Daily when not busy (not to want miss a game)	2013	no	World, LPL, LCK, LEC, LCS	China	RNG(LP L) LCK(Ge n. G)	Xiaohu (LPL) Peanut (LCK)	tactics and skills	Bilibili, - YouTub	Weibo, YouTub
6	21 April	Male	21	Dutch	Bachelor student	Yes	10 years (play first)	avera	not so much	Monthly, depending on the competitio	2016	no	World, LEC	no specific, but watch mostly Europe	MAD Lions	Faker (SK1)	fun things (reaction on Twitch) and unexpected results	Twitch, YouTub	Twitch, YouTub e, Reddit, Discord
7	24 April	Male	26	South African	Bachelor student (study abroad - Rotterdam	yes	12 years (play first)	better than avera ge	not so much becau se of the study, once in two weeks	Weekly, depending on the competitio	2014	no	World, LEC, LCK	North America , South Korea	SKT1	Faker (SK1)	tactics and skills	YouTub e, Twitch, LoL official website	YouTub e, Reddit, Discord
8	25 April	Femal e	25	Dutch	Premaster student	Yes	7 years	good player	yes	Weekly	2017	no	World, MSI, LEC, LCS, LCK	Europe	MAD Lions	Nisqy (MAD Lions)	tactics and skills	YouTub e, LoL official website	Instagra m, YouTub e, Reddit, Discord
9	26 April	Male	20	Dutch	Bachelor student	Yes	7 years	good player	yes	Weekly	2017	no	World, LEC, LCK, LPL	no specific, but most Europe	Fnatic, G2	no specific, just good play mid- lane	tactics and skills	LoL official website, YouTub	YouTub e, Reddit, Discord
10	30 April	Femal e	27	Chinese	Bachelor graduate (work related with video game)	Yes	10 years	better than avera ge	yes	Weekly, depending on the competitio n	2016	no	World, LPL, LCK	China, South Korea	RNG	Uzi (RNG), Brother Crystal	fun things (Bullet comments) and players skills	LoL official website, Bilibili	Weibo, Bilibili, QQ message
11	3 May	Femal e	25	Chinese	Bachelor graduate	not that much after workin g	12 years	used to be better than avera ge	yes	Daily, depending on the competitio n	2012	Apex's ALGS	World, LPL, LCK	China, South Korea	WE; IG	Rookie (Top Esports)	tactics and skills	Huya, Bilibili	Weibo, Bilibili, QQ message
12	6 May	Femal e	25	Chinese	Master student (study abroad - Utrecht)	Yes	8 years	good player	yes	Weekly, depending on the competitio n	2017	Valorant, Call of Duty	World, LPL, LCK	China	RNG, Weibo Gaming	TheShy (Weibo Gaming	tactics and skills; fun things (Bullet comments)		Weibo, Bilibili, QQ message , Discord

Appendix 2. Interview Guide

Icebreaker questions (after the game):

- Do you play *League of Legends*?
- When did you start playing *LoL*?
- Can you tell me 2 or 3 reasons you like to play this game?
- When do you start watching the *LoL* World Championship?
- Which platform do you use for watching? and why?
- Which region is your favourite to watch?
- Do you have a favourite team to watch this year/last year?
- When do you usually watch the *LoL* World Championship?
- Do you also watch other esports tournaments?

1. Spectatorship of the *LoL* World Championship.

(Escapism/Knowledge acquisition/Novelty/Enjoyment of aggression/Socialization opportunities/Digital technology)

- Do you perceive watching the *LoL* World Championship to be different from your other entertainment/esports tournaments?
 - What happens if you know/saw your favourite team/players compete?
 - Describe the most exciting moment while wartcihing last time?
- Can you list some of the reasons why you like to watch it?
- Describe the feeling when you are watching it last time.
 - Describe the most exciting moment while watching last time.
 - What do you gain from watching the game?
 - Do you practice the techniques you learnt from watching while you play the game?
- Do you prefer to watch alone, or do you like to watch with your friends? Why?
 - Describe when you are watching the game by yourself, what do you do while you are watching?
 - Describe when you are watching the game with your friends, what do you do?
- How do you feel about the gaming streaming platforms?
 - Do you think streaming platforms have any influence on your watching experiences?

- What functions of the platform you are most fond of related to watching experiences?
- How is it?
- 2. Motivations for checking/sharing/creating game-related content on social media. (Information/Individual identity/Integration and social interaction/Entertainment)
 - Which social media is your favourite when checking/sharing/creating game-related content of the *LoL* World Championship? And why?
 - How often do you do it?
 - Describe this month when you use social media to check/share/create gamerelated content, what it is about?
 - What are the benefits of check/share/create game-related content on social media for you?
 - Describe how you feel when you check/share/create game-related content on social media.
 - What is your favourite topic of the content on social media?
 - Describe the most interesting game-related content for you have ever shared/created on social media.
 - Do you follow other game/esports accounts on social media, such as publishers, organisers, professional players and game influencers? What are you normally checking on?
 - Do you join any online game/esports groups related to the *LoL* World Championship on social media? (What)
 - What is your personal experience with online game/esports groups on social media? (If)
 - How do you enjoy communicating with/listening to other people in online game/esports groups on social media? (If)
 - Describe the most interesting things you did with online game/esports groups on social media. (If)

Appendix 3. Game League of Legends Trivia



- 1. What does the abbreviation TFT stand for?
- Teams fight Teams
- Team for Team
- Teamfight Tactics
- Teams for Tactics
- 2. What year was the game released?
- 2010
- 2007
- 2009
- 2011
- 3. How was the 3vs3 map called?
- · Dark Forest
- Twisted Treeline
- Forbidden Forest
- Summoner's Rift
- 4. At what level do most champions unlock their ultimate ability?
- Level 3
- Level 6
- Level 7
- Level 5
- 5. How is Ashe's bow called?
- Ashe's Bow
- · Magical Bow
- Avarosa's Bow
- Freljord's Bow

6. When exactly does baron spawn for the first time?
• 25:00
• 20:00
• 15:00
• 30:00
7. What's the name of Annie's teddy bear?
• Teddy
• Rlane

- Blane
- Tibbers
- Steve
- 8. How many turrets are on Summoner's Rift per team?
- 11
- 9
- 6
- 13
- 9. Which champion is also known as the Magical Cat?
- Yuumi
- Teemo
- Twitch
- Nasus
- 10. How many dragons are there in League of Legends?
- 2
- 5
- 4
- 11. Which professional team won THREE world championships?
- Invictus Gaming
- Fnatic
- SK Telecom 1
- Edward Gaming
- 12. Who is the best professional player in the world championships history?
- GaRooda
- Faker
- King Aj
- Tyler1
- 13. Which one of these previous pro basketball players purchased a professional League of Legends team and changed the name to Echo Fox?
- · Jack Fox
- Rick Fox
- Dave Fox
- Sharp Fox

- 14. How often is League of Legends World Championship held?
- Every month
- Every four years
- Every year
- Every two years
- 15. League of Legends World Championship final 2023 will held in ______.
- USA
- China
- South Korea
- Netherland

1. (3) 2. (3) 3. (2) 4. (2) 5. (3) 6. (2) 7. (3) 8. (1) 9. (1) 10. (1) 11. (3) 12. (2) 13. (2) 14. (3) 15. (3)

Appendix 4. Coding Themes

Theme	Sub-theme	Initial Codes
Appealing characteristics of	Attractive game rules of LoL (motivation of	Unique social game rule of <i>LoL</i>
the LoL tournamen	playing):	LoL is a social game
for fans	socialisation/teamwork/co	LoL is fair to play in team
	mmunication skills	LoL is a popular game among peer to play
		Enjoy teamwork while playing LoL
		Enjoy the choice of many champions while playing <i>LoL</i>
		Play LoL is like social rank at school
		Enjoy complexity tactics with many people while playing <i>LoL</i>
		Play <i>LoL</i> with friends is daily activities
	Emotional attachment to <i>LoL</i> game play	Understand well of the game rules
		Invest a lot of time/money to play LoL
		Don't understand the rules of other esports tournament
	Streaming platform preference for virtual rewords in game	Using <i>LoL</i> website because of virtual rewards
	Professionalisation in	LoL is a world-class esports tournament
	organisation	LoL is the most advanced esports
		LoL is professional organised esports
		LoL is organised like traditional competitive sports
		LoL is an international scale esports
		LoL international events tend to be highly entertaining
		LoL game event promotion is systematic and complete
		Riot company has successfully develop it's business
	Enjoy of novelty	Hooked by the new championships while watching
		Enjoy different strategies while watching
		Enjoy changing the game rules every year
		Curious of unexpected tactics happen while watching

		Curious about underdog team play while watching				
		Curious of unexpected results happen while watching				
		Esports are uncontrollable				
	Enjoy of aggressiveness	Cheer for a team which play well is excited				
		Cheer for a team with familiar players is excited				
		Cheer for your own region in the final is excited				
		Cheer for the best pro player (Faker) play is excited				
		Excited when favourite team to win				
		Mood swings a lot when watching favourite team competing				
		Prefer to watch regions with high level of competition				
		Prefer to watch the best players in the competition				
		High level of competition (final) is very excited to watch				
		Watch playback when the competition is very excited				
	Entertainment	Watching <i>LoL</i> is an entertainment in life				
		LoL tournament is super interesting to watch				
		Watching LoL felt happy Watching LoL can get relaxation				
		Watching LoL for pasttime				
		Interested in fun play in <i>LoL</i> tournament				
		Watching esports and discussing (in MSNs) at the same time is fun				
		Favourite team have fun players				
		React to funny moment with friends through MSNs while watching is fun				
	Bondings with LoL	Follow the pro players on social media				
	tournament on social media/individual identity	Personal support of the favourite players/teams on social media				
		Defend favourite pro players/teams on social media				

		Checking information on favourite players/teams on social media Finding controversial things related to the
		LoL players/teams on social media Participate in online discussion is fun
		Finding support of the favourite players/team on social media
		Feel fun to read dramas of LoL tournament on social media
		Feel fun to read people change support on social medial
		feel fun to watch people discuss of <i>LoL</i> touranment on social media
		Looking for funny things related with <i>LoL</i> tournament on social meida
		Finding drama of LPL players/teams on social media (Weibo)
		LPL has a lot of fun memes on social media (Weibo)
Digital media use for socialisation	Streaming platform preference for socialisation opportunities	Communication with other fans on streaming platforms is interesting
opportunities		Communities on Twitch is funny
		Difference between Twitch and YouTube is the fan community
		Jokes on Twitch's live chat is funny
		Looking for others reaction on Twitch is funny
		Using streaming platforms when familiar commentator broadcasting
		Sence of belonging on Twitch fan community
		Have fun watching bullet comments on Chinese streaming platforms
		Prefer bullet comments than virtual rewards
		Special moment to watch bullet comments for good mood
		Watch recording game mainly focus on bullet comments
	Socialisation opportunities with digital media	Discuss with friends online while watching is fun
	integration while spectating	Discuss with friends through MSNs while watching is fun

		React to funny moments with friends through MSNs while watching is fun Cheering for one team with other fans on social media is fun Watching others react on Twitch while watching felt connected Watching bullet comments felt everyone cheer together Gaining friendship when support the same team on social media Meeting other fans online felt understandable with each other Bullet comments are really fun to watch Jokes on Twitch's live chat is funny
	Mobile social networks for communications/social interaction	Reaction on Twitch is fun to watch The online community organised on MSNs
		Friends from MSNs are not strangers
		MSNs groups have the same interest in gameplay and support teams
		MSNs groups for organising watching together
		Using Disord for organising game play
		Using Discord to share game-related content on social media
		Share self-made game-related content in MSNs groups (instead of social media)
		Using MSNs for sharing game-related events
		Using MSNs to share game-related news
		Discuss about game-related content on social media in MSNs groups
Knowledge	Streaming platform	YouTube is easy to access
acquisition of <i>LoL</i> tournament is	preference for knowledge acquisition	YouTube have better-broadcast quality
important for fans	1	Avoid trouble while watching
		No bullet comments on the official site
		Bullet comments are annoying while watching
		Reaction and live chat is annoying while watching
	Knowledge acquisition by spectating esports	Gain understanding of the game while watching

	Learning skill while watching is helpful for gameplay
	Pay attention to individual skills of pro players while watching
	Pay attention to the teamwork and strategies while watching
	Pay attention to mistakes while watching
	Drawing inspiration from the <i>LoL</i> characters
	Discuss the tactics with friends while watching
	Not sure if learnt anything useful
	Strategy for underdog team win is attractive
Knowledge acquisition on social media	Finding game related information on social media
	Asking for specific quetions related to the <i>LoL</i> tournament on social media
	Answer the questions related to game and esports on social media
	Looking for discussions of the <i>LoL</i> tournament on social media
	Looking for professional commentaries on the <i>LoL</i> tournament on social media
	Checking on content related to skills and tactics of the competitions

Appendix 5. Consent Form

CONSENT REQUEST FOR PARTICIPATING IN RESEARCH

FOR QUESTIONS ABOUT THE STUDY, CONTACT:

Name: Weijie Huang

Address:

Email: 595461wh@student.eur.nl

Telephone number:

DESCRIPTION

You¹ are invited to participate in a research about [Exploring Esports Fandom on Social Media: A Qualitative Research on Social Media Use and *LoL* World Championship Spectatorship]. The purpose of the study is to understand [motivations to watch the *LoL* World Championship and share/create game-related content on social media for digital fandom identities' construction].

Your acceptance to participate in this study means that you accept to [be interviewed]. In general terms,

- the questions [of the interview] will be related to watch the *LoL* World Championship and social media use.

Unless you prefer that no recordings are made, I will use a tape / video recorder for the interview.

You are always free not to answer any particular question, and/or stop participating at any point.

RISKS AND BENEFITS [alternatives A and B are presented below, but there may be further variations]

A. As far as I can tell, there are no risks associated with participating in this research. Yet, you are free to decide whether I should use your name or other identifying information not in the study. If you prefer, I will make sure that you cannot be identified, by [measures that will be taken: pseudonym, general identification only mentioning age and gender, etc.].

B. I am aware that the possibility of identifying the people who participate in this study may involve risks for ... [Explain potential risks for the participant's reputation, help, social relations, etc.]. For that reason—unless you prefer to be identified fully (first name, last name, occupation, etc.)—I will

¹ In the case of minors, informed consent must be obtained from the parents or other official carers. They will have to sign this form. Please make sure to adjust this form accordingly. Even if/when consent has been provided, children should never be forced to participate or to continue participating.

not keep any information that may lead to the identification of those involved in the study. I will only pseudonyms to identify participants.

I will use the material from the interviews and my observation exclusively for academic work, such as further research, academic meetings and publications.

TIME INVOLVEMENT

Your participation in this study will take [45-60 minute]. You may interrupt your participation at any time.

PAYMENTS

There will be no monetary compensation for your participation.

PARTICIPANTS' RIGHTS

If you have decided to accept to participate in this project, please understand your participation is voluntary and you have the right to withdraw your consent or discontinue participation at any time without penalty. You have the right to refuse to answer particular questions. If you prefer, your identity will be made known in all written data resulting from the study. Otherwise, your individual privacy will be maintained in all published and written data resulting from the study.

CONTACTS AND QUESTIONS

If you have questions about your rights as a study participant, or are dissatisfied at any time with any aspect of this study, you may contact—anonymously, if you wish— [Leandro Borges Lima]

SIGNING THE CONSENT FORM

I give consent to be audiotaped during this study:

If you sign this consent form, your signature will be the only documentation of your identity. Thus, you DO NOT NEED to sign this form. In order to minimize risks and protect your identity, you may prefer to consent orally. Your oral consent is sufficient.

	1		
Name		Signature	Date
I prefer my identity to be re	evealed i	in all written data resulting from this study	
Name		Signature	Date
This copy of the consent for	orm is fo	r you to keep. ²	

² Two copies should be made for each subject: one for the subject to keep and one for the student's records.